Doctoral Thesis

Development and application of a fine-scale positioning method for the observation of movement behaviour of fish schools

Supervisor Associate professor Hiromichi MITAMURA

Department of Social Informatics Graduate School of Informatics Kyoto University

Junichi TAKAGI

September, 2018

Development and application of a fine-scale positioning method for the observation of movement behaviour of fish schools

Junichi TAKAGI

Abstract

Collective movement provides various advantages to animals; enhanced navigational ability is one of these advantages. In the absence of a leader, individuals in a group choose movement directions by compromising with other members, and this leads them to follow a more accurate route. Theoretically, it is the 'many-wrongs principle' that allows groups to have improved navigational ability, in which a more accurate compass is yielded simply by pooling information (in the group) from many inaccurate sources of directional information (individuals). Collective navigation has been studied empirically in many terrestrial animals, while relatively few studies have focused on this aspect in aquatic animals, including fish, due to technological limitations and the wider ranging migrations undertaken by such animals. However, a new biotelemetry system using novel technology has recently been developed; this technology theoretically assesses collective navigation by schooling fish in the field. This system was applied herein to the black rockfish, Sebastes cheni, which occurs in coastal rocky areas around Japan. This species is well-known for having a small home range and the ability to navigate back to its original habitat after displacement. In the general conceptual framework of movement ecology, external factors, including the presence of conspecifics, influence the movements of individuals. If black rockfish recognize other conspecifics, their movements could be motivated by the presence of other individuals. There is the possibility that black rockfish exhibit collective navigation in their homing journeys. Based on this, I developed the following two hypotheses: (1) black rockfish would return to their original location after artificial displacement while forming a group; and (2) group homing would improve the efficiency of homing behaviour compared with homing by a single fish because of the benefits of collective navigation.

The objectives of this research were as follows: to develop a fine-scale positioning method using the new biotelemetry system that can observe schooling behaviour, and subsequently to test the two hypotheses proposed by applying this newly developed positioning method in the field.

In Chapter 2, prior to developing a positioning method, the ability of the

biotelemetry system to simultaneously identify individual entities while avoiding multi-path effects was evaluated in the field. Eight transmitters with a 1.28 s signal transmitting interval were deployed at the same location. The detection rate during 15 min of recording was ca. 75.0%. The results showed that multiple signals from several transmitters were simultaneously identified at a high temporal resolution (<2 s). Depth data encoded in signals provided accurate (<0.4 m) and correct (>84%) information. The biotelemetry system thus had adequate potential for the observation of schooling fish in the field.

In Chapter 3, the fine-scale positioning method was developed and applied to the observation of multiple fish in the field. This method pinpointed stationary transmitters with a positional precision of <10 cm and positioning interval of <10 s. As an example of the application of this method, the intermittent stop-and-go locomotion of Siebold's wrasses, *Pseudolabrus sieboldi*, was observed during their homing behaviour. Their turn angles were investigated, which suggested that the intermittent 'stop' phase of their behaviour is linked to reorientation while homing.

In Chapter 4, I tested my two hypotheses regarding the collective movement of homing black rockfish using the fine-scale positioning method developed in previous Chapters. Two groups, consisting of four individuals each, and four single individuals were released, and then their homing journeys were observed. In group-released individuals, two rockfish moved together just after release within a short period of ca. 100 s. This partially supported my hypothesis (1) concerning their collective movement. However, my other hypothesis (2) of their navigational ability was not supported.

In these studies, I developed a fine-scale spatiotemporal positioning method for fish schools utilizing novel technology and biotelemetry techniques, and applied it to testing hypotheses about the occurrence of collective navigation in fish. The hypotheses proposed were not completely proven, but were partially supported. The positioning method developed herein has great potential to contribute to providing empirical data on group behaviour in fish, including not only the schooling behaviour of conspecifics but also inter- and intra-specific interactions, such as predator-prey and male-female interactions, in the field. These data will enhance the efforts to link movement ecology the study of group behaviour and/or collective movement. Development and application of a fine-scale positioning method for the observation of movement behaviour of fish schools

Contents

Chapter 1 Background	1
1.1 Collective movement for navigation	1
1.2 Target species and behaviour	
1.2.1 Target coastal fish species: black rockfish	
1.2.2 Hypotheses of collective movement	
1.3 Monitoring methods ·····	6
1.3.1 Biotelemetry technique	6
1.3.2 Acoustic positioning	·····7
1.3.3 New biotelemetry system	
1.4 Objectives of this research	12
1.5 Structure of the thesis	13
Chapter 2 Ability for simultaneous identification of the biote	elemetry
system in natural environment	15
2.1 Introduction	15
2.2 Materials and methods	19
2.2.1 Biotelemetry system ·····	19
2.2.2 Field experiment ·····	20
2.3 Results ·····	
2.4 Discussion ·····	
2.5 Conclusions ·····	
Chapter 3 Development and application of fine-scale spatiote	emporal
positioning method in natural environment	29
3.1 Introduction	
3.2 Materials and methods	
3.2.1 Biotelemetry system	
3.2.2 Study site	
3.2.3 Positioning method	
3.2.4 Stationary test	

3.2.5 Free-swimming fish test	····3 7
3.3 Results ·····	41
3.3.1 Stationary test	41
3.3.2 Free-swimming fish test	···· 44
3.4 Discussion	50
3.4.1 Stationary test	···· 50
3.4.2 Free-swimming fish test	
3.5 Conclusions	···· 54
Chapter 4 Observation of homing behaviour of black rock released in a group: do black rockfish use social cues in homing? 4.1 Abstract	fish 55 55
 Chapter 4 Observation of homing behaviour of black rock released in a group: do black rockfish use social cues in homing? 4.1 Abstract Chapter 5 General discussion 5.1 Contribution to future study 	fish 55 55 57
 Chapter 4 Observation of homing behaviour of black rock released in a group: do black rockfish use social cues in homing? 4.1 Abstract Chapter 5 General discussion 5.1 Contribution to future study 5.2 General conclusions 	fish 55 55 57 57 59
Chapter 4 Observation of homing behaviour of black rock released in a group: do black rockfish use social cues in homing? 4.1 Abstract Chapter 5 General discussion 5.1 Contribution to future study	fish 55 55 57 57 59 60
Chapter 4 Observation of homing behaviour of black rock released in a group: do black rockfish use social cues in homing? 4.1 Abstract Chapter 5 General discussion 5.1 Contribution to future study 5.2 General conclusions Acknowledgments References	fish 55 57 57 57 57 60 63

Chapter 1

Background

1.1 Collective movement for navigation

Organisms live in groups that exist in time and space at almost all conceivable scales. Living in a group itself and/or collective movement provides various advantages (Krause and Ruxton, 2002; Sumpter, 2010), such as increased food searching efficiency (Pitcher et al., 1982), reduced predation risk (Partridge, 1982; Magurran, 1990), and reduced energy expenditures during locomotion (Weihs, 1973; Marras et al., 2014; Portugal et al., 2014; Hemelrijk et al., 2015). Researchers have long studied and been fascinated by collective animal movements, such as those performed by schooling fish, flocking birds, herding ungulates, swarming insects, and other groupings of many individual animals moving together in a highly coordinated manner. Recently, technological advances and insights from theoretical models have allowed increasing amounts of empirical data on collective animal movement to be accumulated through field studies (Westley et al., 2018; Berdahl et al., 2018; Hughey et al., 2018).

Enhanced navigational ability is another advantage of collective movement (Sumpter, 2010). When individuals travel in a group, two types of navigational information are merged, specifically the experience or internal compass of each individual and the direction taken by other members in the group. In the absence of a leader, individuals in a group choose the group's movement direction by compromising with other members in the group, and thus they are led to follow a more accurate route. For example, the homing efficiency of pigeons was improved when they travelled in flocks compared with when individuals travelled alone (Biro et al., 2006; Dell'Ariccia et al., 2008), and king penguin chicks returned to their original nesting place (créche) more efficiently when two chicks travelled together than when individuals travelled alone (Nesterova et al., 2014). Theoretically, it is the 'many-wrongs principle' that allows groups to have improved navigational ability. This intriguing principle was first proposed by Bergman and Donner while studying migrating birds (Bergman and Donner, 1964). They suggested that there was 'a smaller variation in the headings of individual flocks than in the case of individual birds,' and thus migration in flocks 'increases the accuracy of the orientation mechanism' (Bergman and Donner, 1964). The 'many-wrongs principle' is based on the simple idea that, in the context of navigation, more accurate directional information is yielded by pooling information (i.e., in the group) from many inaccurate directional information sources (i.e., individuals): thus, collective movement averages out errors derived from individuals, and the overall navigational ability of the group is improved (Simons, 2004; Codling et al., 2007).

Navigational ability has been well-studied in seabirds, such as penguins (e.g., Trathan et al., 2008) and albatrosses (e.g., Bonadonna et al., 2004), as well as in turtles (e.g., Brothers and Lohmann, 2015) and in anadromous and catadromous fishes, such as salmonids (e.g., reviewed in Ueda 2012) and eels (e.g., reviewed in Baltazar-Soares and Eizaguirre, 2017). However, the vast majority of empirical studies focusing on collective navigation have been conducted on terrestrial animals. The navigational ability of schooling fish has been studied far less, although the importance of collective behaviour in homing fish is well known. To my knowledge, one study did make and test hypotheses concerning collective navigation in salmonids (Berdahl et al., 2014). However, the present study was based on yearly population data, not on empirical movement data obtained in the

field as is done in studies of terrestrial animals.

One of the problems preventing the collective navigation of schooling fish in the field from being the target of more studies could be the fact that these animals undergo wider ranging migrations than many terrestrial animals. Salmonids and eels, for example, accomplish trans-oceanic navigations back to a natal river or a natal marine area. Such migration is too extensive for the entire movement route to be observed. Thus, to investigate collective navigation in fish based on positional information, it is necessary to consider target fish species that exhibit homing behaviour after displacement within a limited area, i.e., short-range homing.

1.2 Target species and behaviour

1.2.1 Target coastal fish species: black rockfish

There are several coastal fish species that show site fidelity and homing ability, such as wrasses (e.g., Chateau and Wantiez, 2007), groupers (e.g. Kaunda-Arara and Rose, 2004), damselfish (e.g., Booth, 2016), and cardinalfish (e.g., Marnane, 2000). The species-rich rockfish genus Sebastes includes over 100 species (Eschmeyer and Hureau, 1971; Kendall, 1991; Kendall, 2000), many of which are known for their strong site fidelity and homing ability (e.g., Green and Starr, 2011; Matthews, 1990a; Mitamura et al., 2002, 2005, 2009, 2012; Reynolds et al. 2010). In Japan, the black rockfish, S. cheni (Fig. 1-1), is one of the most common and commercially important Sebastes species. This species is found along the coast of Japan, from southern Hokkaido in the north to as far southward as Kyushu, on both the Pacific and the Japan Sea coasts (Harada, 1962). Black rockfish inhabit Zostera and Sargassum beds in their early life history stages and are active in the daytime at these stages, whereas adult black rockfish inhabit rocky reefs and are active mainly at night. They feed on small fish and marine invertebrates (Harada, 1962).

S. cheni is sympatric with (i.e., inhabits the same area as) the congeneric species S. inermis and S. ventricosus. There are few morphological differences among these three species, so genetic analysis is necessary to distinguish them completely from each another (Kai et al., 2002; Kai and Nakabo, 2008). However, the mode number of pectoral fin rays can enable one to roughly distinguish these three species, as this is 15, 16, and 17 for S. inermis, S. ventricosus, and S. cheni, respectively (Kai & Nakabo 2002; Kai et al., 2002). Additionally, S. cheni tends to inhabit the inner coastal area more than the other two species (S. inermis and S. S. ventricosus) do (Kai and Nakabo, 2002). The field study in this research (Chapter 4) was conducted in a coastal area, but as it is difficult to perform genetic analysis during the field study, I could not use this approach to confirm the specific identity of the fish studied. However, I counted the number of pectoral fin ray of the specimens examined in the field, and based on this concluded that they most likely represented the target species, S. cheni.



Fig. 1-1. Target species, black rockfish Sebastes cheni,

1.2.2 Hypotheses of collective movement

Adult black rockfish, as mentioned above, inhabit rocky areas and each individual maintains a small home range (Harada, 1962; Mitamura et al. 2009). This species also has the ability to navigate back to their original habitat after an artificial displacement of 1–4 km (Mitamura et al., 2002). It is thought that they predominantly use the olfactory sense when homing from an unfamiliar area (Mitamura et al. 2005; 2012), but they may also use vision to navigate within a familiar area (Mitamura et al. 2012). Black rockfish form large schools in their early life history stages, whereas adult black rockfish are rather solitary and usually do not form groups (Harada, 1962), although they do aggregate around rocky areas that represent favourable habitats. However, there is no clear evidence whether they move in schools or not. In the general conceptual framework of movement ecology, external factors, including both biotic and abiotic environment, form one of the four components (the other three are internal state, motion capacity, and navigation capacity) that influence movement (Nathan et al., 2008). The presence of conspecifics can influence the movement of individuals in various ecological contexts (e.g., Delgado et al., 2014). Additionally, during preliminary observations several black rockfish started to move with 1-4 other individuals when 16 individuals were simultaneously released (Takagi, personal observation; see Fig. 4-1). For most fish species, sight and the lateral line sense are the primary sources of social information (Partridge and Pitcher, 1980; Faucher et al., 2010; Strandburg-Peshkin et al., 2013). If black rockfish recognize other conspecifics with their sensory organs, presumably their movements could be motivated or influenced at least partially by those of conspecifics. Thus, there is a possibility that adult black rockfish released in a group move together, i.e., that they use social cues from conspecifics for navigation during their homing journey.

Therefore, I developed the following two hypotheses: (1) black rockfish released with other individuals would return to their original habitat after artificial displacement while forming a group; and (2) group homing would improve the efficiency of homing compared to that performed by a single homing fish.

1.3 Monitoring methods

1.3.1 Biotelemetry technique

Recent advancements in information and communication technology (ICT) have produced various methods for the transfer of information across the globe, from the deep sea to space. These technological advances have also helped to enhance the study of animal movement and behaviour. Acoustic biotelemetry using ultrasonic waves to send information underwater is a powerful tool that can be used to indirectly observe the behaviour and surrounding environment (e.g., depth, acceleration, conductivity, and temperature) of target animals. Technological advances in biotelemetry techniques, such miniaturization, battery as engineering, and software/hardware developments, have led to increased attention on aquatic animals, including fish, by applying these techniques (Cooke et al., 2004; Hussey et al., 2015; Hays et al., 2016). Transmitters generally have a unique ID encoded in their signals, which allows several tagged animals to be monitored. Although previous studies using biotelemetry examined the movement and behaviour of many fish, movement analyses have still largely focused on single, individual fish. There is limited information on conspecific interactions, namely group behaviours (e.g., schooling and shoaling), despite group behaviour being widespread among fish.

There are still difficulties that prevent biotelemetry systems from being used to monitor collective movement. Conventional biotelemetry systems cannot simultaneously identify multiple signals because of the relatively long duration of signals and interference between multiple monotone pulses. For example, coded Vemco transmitters each have a single frequency and a pulse duration of 10–20 ms. One signal includes 7– 11 pulses, and the signal duration is 3.5–4 s (Bowles et al., 2010; for details, see Pincock, 2008). All pulses in a signal must be detected to confirm the transmitter's ID because the coded information is contained within the intervals between pulses. As another example, Sonotronic's telemetry transmitters have several frequencies, and their signals include multiple pulses (for details, see http://www.sonotronics.com). Accordingly, several seconds are needed to broadcast a coded signal, and all pulses in the signal must be detected to confirm the ID of the signal. Owing to this constraint, many signals collide among pulses if several transmitters are broadcasting at the same time. The number of signals identified will thus be underestimated if several tagged individuals occur within the detection range of the receiver simultaneously.

1.3.2 Acoustic positioning

Using biotelemetry techniques, the movements and behaviours of aquatic animals, including fish, have been observed by locating the exact positions of animals using the hyperbolic positioning method, which is based on the time difference of arrival (TDOA) of the transmitted signals received by three or more stationary receivers (hydrophones). Acoustic positioning methods have also advanced to meet the challenges posed by observing the exact positions of aquatic animals to achieve an accuracy of several metres (see Cote et al., 1998; Klimley et al., 2001; Andrews et al., 2011; Espinoza et al., 2011; Gergé et al., 2012; Roy et al., 2014). These positioning methods have revealed the detailed behaviours and movements of tagged individuals using positional information, such as homing behaviour (Mitamura et al., 2009; 2012) and movement patterns (Wolfe and Lowe, 2015; Williams-Grove and Szedlmayer, 2016).

Generally, two types of biotelemetry system have been used in positioning techniques, specifically those in which receivers (hydrophones) are either wired or wireless. Both types have advantages and disadvantages in comparison to one other. On the one hand, an advantage of the wired type is that it is not necessary to synchronize the internal clocks of receivers because all hydrophones are usually hardwired to a single receiver's main body; however, a disadvantage is that with wired types the range of the hydrophone array is limited, because it is restricted by the cable length. Due to these characteristics, a wired type of biotelemetry system has been applied to monitoring the movement and behaviour of fish within limited areas, such as around a dam or in a fish pen (e.g., the HTI [Hydroacoustic Technology Inc., Seattle, WA, USA] high resolution 3D positioning system; Ransom et al., 2008; Leclercq et al., 2018). On the other hand, the wireless type has an advantage in that it can be deployed over a wider range because each receiver is independent of all others. However, instead the internal clocks of the receivers must be manually synchronized. Although the necessity of clock synchronization is a limitation of the wireless type, the majority of biotelemetry systems used in the field have been of the wireless type because studies have needed to be conducted over wider ranges, in environments ranging in size from ponds to the deep sea (Hussey et al., 2015). The Vemco Positioning System (VPS) is one of the wireless types that has been particularly widely-used in biotelemetry studies (e.g., Andrews et al., 2011; Espinoza et al., 2011). However, both the wired and wireless types of receivers only have positioning accuracies of up to several tens of centimetres, which does not reach the level of accuracy required to observe the collective movement of small fish of a few tens of centimetres in length, such as the target species.

1.3.3 New biotelemetry system

Recently, several biotelemetry systems that can identify multiple signals at a time have been developed. For example, HTI has developed a biotelemetry system known as the Predation Detection Acoustic Tag (PDAT), which uses a phase modulation pulse. Individual PDATs are isolated by 'pulse-rate encoding', which uses only one phase modulation pulse, a programmable short pulse (0.5–5 ms), and a unique pulse repetition rate (for details, see Ehrenberg and Steig, 2003). The short-phase modulation pulse allows receivers to detect multiple signals simultaneously. As another example, CDMA (code division multiple access) MAP technology (Lotek Wireless Inc., Newmarket, Ontario, Canada) can detect transmissions from 22 tagged fish at 15 s intervals, and localise the fish with sub-metre accuracy (Cooke et al., 2005).

However, I focused on and used another biotelemetry system in my research. Miyamoto et al. (2010, 2011) developed a new biotelemetry system (Fusion Inc., Tokyo, Japan) for use in the ocean from the temperate zone to the tropics, especially where there are high ambient noise levels. This new biotelemetry system attained the four parameters that are desired in an optimum biotelemetry system, specifically: small size, long battery life, long-distance transmission, and high recognition ability. The biotelemetry system that I used in my thesis research was the successor to the model developed by Miyamoto et al. (2010, 2011), which was named the Gold code transmitter and receiver system and was manufactured by Aquasound Inc., Kobe, Japan (Fig. 1-2).

Transmitter

Three types of Gold code transmitters were used in my research; AQPX-1030P, AQPX-1040PT, and AQTD-600P (AquaSound Inc., Kobe, Japan; Fig 1-2). The Gold code transmitters emit a remarkably short (2.048 ms) pulse, which is implemented as single-frequency phase-modulated pulses using M-sequence codes that generate a high signal-to-noise ratio (SNR). These pulses are each encoded by one of 32 Gold codes, which is one of the pseudo-noise (PN) codes in a pair of M-sequences, with low cross-correlation among the codes (Gold 1967). Adequately short (2.048 ms) pulses enable the incidence of collisions among multiple pulses at a time to be decreased. In practice, three or four collisions occurred over 1 min when seven transmitters with a transmitting interval of ~1 s were placed in a 30-cm-diameter bucket (Miyamoto et al., 2011). The low cross-correlation of Gold codes decreases their misidentification rates. Therefore, these two strong characteristics (lower collision rate and lower misidentification rate) would facilitate simultaneous identification of multiple signals, i.e., multiple fish tagged with the Gold code transmitters.



Fig. 1-2. Size of transmitters and receivers of the biotelemetry system used in this study. (a) A transmitter of either the AQPX-1040PT or AQPX-1030P type (Aquasound Inc., Kobe, Japan). (b) A transmitter of the AQTD-600P type (ditto). (c) A receiver of the AQRM-1000 type (ditto).

The Gold code transmitters can also transmit ambient environmental information. The AQPX-1030P transmitter is equipped with a pressure (depth) sensor, while the AQPX-1040PT and AQTD-600P transmitters are equipped with both pressure (depth) and temperature sensors. A signal emitted by the transmitters consists of two (with depth sensor only) or three (with depth and temperature sensors) consecutive 2.048 ms pulses. Depth and temperature information are encoded in intervals between the 1st and 2nd, and the 2nd and 3rd pulses, respectively (Fig. 1-3). The accuracies of these systems were 0.5 m (depth sensor) and 0.2 °C (temperature sensor).



Fig. 1-3. Transmission of depth and temperature information from the Gold code transmitter. Depth information is included in the 1st and 2nd pulses, and temperature information is included in the 2nd and 3rd pluses. The signal interval is assumed to be 1.28 s. In transmitters that have only a depth sensor, a signal consists of two pulses, i.e., the 1st and 2nd pulses.

Other features of the Gold code transmitters are as follows. The AQPX-1030P and AQPX-1040PT transmitters measured 9.5 mm in diameter and 36 mm in length, and weighed 1.6 g in water and 5.5 g in air. The source level of these two transmitter types was 155 dB re 1 μ Pa at 1 m, and their frequency was 62.5 kHz. The battery life of AQPX-1030P and AQPX-1040PT transmitters was 1 year when emitting signals at 180 s and 240 s transmitting intervals, respectively. The AQTD-600P transmitters were 27 mm in diameter and 130 mm in length, and weighed 93 g in water and 17 g in air. The source level of the AQTD-600P transmitter type was 160 dB re 1 μ Pa at 1 m, and its frequency was 62.5 kHz. Its battery life was 1 year when emitting signals at 5 s transmitting intervals using a single CR2 lithium cell.

Receiver

In my research, AQRM-1000 acoustic monitoring receivers (AquaSound Inc., Tokyo, Japan; Fig. 1-2) were used. They measured 64 mm in diameter and 300 mm in length, and weighed 0.5 kg in water and 1.2 kg in air when containing three D-cell batteries. The receivers had a battery life of approximately two months, and stored detection data in CSV format on an SD card, from which the data were then retrieved and downloaded for analysis.

were theoretically capable of simultaneously The receivers different identifying multiple pulses from transmitters using cross-correlation values. Additionally, as the receiver has a sampling frequency of 1 MHz, the theoretical positional resolution baseline was only 1.5 mm (calculated by dividing the underwater sound velocity $[1,500 \text{ m} \cdot \text{s}^{-1}]$ by 1,000,000 Hz) based on the time-difference-of-arrival (TDOA). This biotelemetry system should thus be capable of simultaneously and precisely observing the movements of multiple fish, a feat that conventional telemetry positioning systems with sub-metre accuracy have not previously achieved.

1.4 Objectives of this research

The ultimate objectives of this research were to test the two hypotheses mentioned in the previous section by acoustic positioning using a new biometry technique. To accomplish this objective, the three main steps in this study were set as follows:

- 1. Empirically evaluate the ability of the biotelemetry system used in this study to simultaneously identify multiple targets in a natural environment.
- 2. Using the biotelemetry technique, develop a three-dimensional acoustic positioning method that can simultaneously localize multiple fish at spatial and temporal scales as fine as those needed for observing the movement behaviour of fish schools.

3. Observe homing behaviour of multiple black rockfish simultaneously using the acoustic positioning method developed herein, and test the two main study hypotheses with the positional dataset acquired.

1.5 Structure of the thesis

This thesis is organized as follows:

• Chapter 2:

I describe a demonstration of the ability of the biotelemetry system used in this study to simultaneously identify targets while avoiding multi-path interference effects in a natural environment.

• Chapter 3:

I describe the development and application of a fine-scale three-dimensional positioning method using the biotelemetry system in a natural environment, which I apply to the observation of intermittent locomotion by a coastal fish species, Siebold's wrasse (*Pseudolabrus sieboldi*).

• Chapter 4:

I describe the application of the positioning method to observing and testing hypotheses about the collective movement behaviour of the target coastal fish species, the black rockfish *S. cheni*, while homing back to original habitats following displacement.

• Chapter 5:

Based on the results of Chapters 2–4, I discuss the potential contribution of the positioning method developed herein to monitoring group behaviour in fish in future research, and conclude this thesis.

Chapter 2

Ability for simultaneous identification of the biotelemetry system in natural environment

2.1 Introduction

Acoustic biotelemetry using ultrasonic transmitters and receivers is a powerful tool to observe indirectly the behavior and surrounding environment (e.g., swimming depth and ambient water temperature) of target animals in water, so a large number of studies have been performed on aquatic animals using this advanced technology (Cooke et al., 2004; Hussey et al., 2015). Ultrasonic biotelemetry methods have revealed various fish behaviors and movements. For example, our previous studies reported that black rockfish *Sebastes cheni* exhibit strong homing behavior. Rockfish return to their original source after displacement, indicating that they may predominantly use olfaction during homing (Mitamura et al., 2002, 2005). Furthermore, the behaviors of aquatic animals including fish have been observed by locating the exact positions of animals tagged with transmitters using the hyperbolic navigation method based on the time difference of arrival of the transmitted signals with three or more stationary receivers. The Vemco Positioning System (VPS) has been widely used to locate tagged animals with positioning accuracy of a few meters (Andrews et al., 2011; Espinoza et al., 2011). Transmitters generally have a unique ID encoded in their signals. The coded transmitter allows several tagged animals to be monitored. Although those biotelemetry studies examined the behavior of many fish, the analyses were focused on the behavior of individual fish, and little attention was paid to inter-individual interactions, namely, group (e.g. schooling and shoaling) behavior, in biotelemetry studies, despite group behavior being widespread among fish.

Several studies have attempted to develop methods to observe fish group behavior. Guttridge et al. (2010) tagged juvenile lemon sharks (*Negaprion brevirostris*) with a transmitter and a receiver (Sonotronics, Tucson, AZ, USA) and demonstrated that one shark associated with nine other sharks on 128 occasions over 17 days. Holland et al. (2009) developed "business card" tags (BCT; Vemco, Bedford, NS, Canada), consisting of a transmitter and a receiver, and tagged Galapagos sharks (*Carcharhinus galapagensis*) with the BCTs. The BCTs captured presence-absence characteristics of other tagged sharks within the detection range.

However, these telemetry systems cannot simultaneously identify multiple signals because of the relatively long signal duration and plural monotone pulses. For example, the coded Vemco transmitters used in BCTs (Holland et al., 2009) have a single frequency and a pulse duration of 10–20 ms. One signal includes 7–11 pulses, and the signal duration is 3.5–4 s (Bowles et al., 2010; for details, see Pincock, 2008). All pulses in a signal must be detected to identify the ID because the coded information is contained within the intervals between pulses. Sonotronics telemetry transmitters have several frequencies, and their signals include multiple pulses (for details, see http://www.sonotronics.com). Accordingly, several seconds are needed to broadcast a coded signal, and all pulses in the signal must be detected to identify the ID. Owing to this constraint, many signals collide among pulses if several transmitters are broadcasting signals at the same time. The number of signals identified will be underestimated if several tagged individuals occur within the detection area of the receiver simultaneously. Short duration interactions may not be recorded by BCT (Holland *et al.*, 2009)-like inter-animal tags or the telemetry system used by Guttridge *et al.* (2010). A biotelemetry system with monotone pulses cannot detect signals or identify IDs simultaneously; namely, it is difficult for this widely used system to detect group behavior on a precise time scale.

Multiple signals from several transmitters must be detected simultaneously and discriminated by receivers to obtain a better understanding of group behavior using biotelemetry. HTI (Hydroacoustic Technology Inc., Seattle, WA, USA) has developed the Predation Detection Acoustic Tag (PDAT), which uses a phase modulation pulse. Individual PDATs are isolated by "pulse-rate encoding", which uses only one phase modulation pulse, a programmable short pulse (0.5-5 ms), and a unique pulse repetition rate (for details, see Ehrenberg and Steig, 2003). The short phase modulation pulse allows receivers to detect signals simultaneously. Predation has been detected by locating dead juvenile Chinook salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha) with a PDAT and a predator with another tag after almost 2 days (Schultz et al., 2015). Miyamoto et al. (2010, 2011) developed a new telemetry system (Fusion Inc., Tokyo, Japan) in which the transmitters emit short (2 ms), phase-modulated pulses using M-sequence signals, and the receivers correlatively process the data. The pulses are encoded by one of 32 Gold codes, which is one of the pseudo-noise codes in a pair of M-sequences, with low cross-correlation among the codes (Gold 1967). The new system theoretically detects signals and identifies the IDs simultaneously because each pulse contains a unique ID, and the short pulses rarely collide. Miyamoto et al. (2011) confirmed that three or four collisions occurred over 1 min when seven transmitters with an approximate 1-s transmitting interval were placed in a 30-cm-diameter bucket. However, little is known about whether multiple signals from plural phase modulation transmitters can be identified simultaneously in a natural environment. It is essential to investigate the ability of the system to identify signals simultaneously under natural conditions to observe group behavior of fish by using the BCT-like inter-animal tags and a

VPS-like positioning system.

Another problem would occur in the new biotelemetry system. The Gold code transmitters emit three consecutive 2 ms pulses to encode depth and temperature information in intervals between the 1st and the 2nd, and the 2nd and the 3rd pulses, respectively. Due to its short pulse duration of 2 ms and pulse intervals ranging between a few tens of ms, there is a multipath effect that causes measurement errors in coded information. If one of the two pulses were a reflected pulse, the interval between the two pulses would become shorter or longer; that is, correct encoded information would collapse and phantom values might be recorded. Hasegawa et al. developed a real-time depth monitoring system for trolling gear using a type of the Gold code transmitters, and proposed two ways to solve the problems of multipath effects (Hasegawa et al., 2016). One method was adding directivity to the hydrophone to detect only direct pulses, while the other method was deploying the hydrophone at the bottom of the boat to block the reflected pulses at the sea surface. The trolling gear with the Gold code transmitter was submerged under the boat and the hydrophone was deployed around the boat, so the pulses from the Gold code transmitter were almost always propagated in an upward direction. The cause of the phantom value in that study was the reflected pulse at the sea surface. Therefore, using a directional hydrophone and deploying the hydrophone under the boat should solve the problems.

However, the two methods in fact may not solve the problems in biotelemetry. The majority of research using acoustic biotelemetry has been performed in shallow waters such as coastal, estuarine, and freshwater areas (Hussey et al., 2015), where signals from transmitters to receivers mainly propagate in horizontal directions due to limitation of depth range. Animals tagged with a transmitter are free ranging, so signal arrival direction is always unknown. Therefore the two methods mentioned above cannot be applied because those methods work only in when the direct or reflected signal arrival direction is known. Additionally, in shallow waters, not only sea surface but also sea bottom can be major boundaries to reflect ultrasonic pulses.

One possible way to overcome this problem is to discriminate phantom values through a mechanical process. If both a receiver and a transmitter remain stationary under a condition of flat sea surface, direct and reflection waves always travel through the same passage, determined geometrically. As a result, phantom value derived from false alarms would concentrate around a specific value, because time difference of arrival between direct and reflection wave is always the same. However, the sea surface is rarely so calm as to be flat, and tagged animals are free-ranging in biotelemetry, so phantom values should not be uniquely decided. These factors make it difficult to cope with the multipath effect through a mechanical process. Thus, al least, it is necessary to evaluate measurement errors derived from the multipath effect in the shallow sea area, where majority of research on biotelemetry was conducted.

In this study, I (1) examined whether multiple signals from plural phase modulation transmitters could be identified simultaneously, and (2) evaluated the multipath effects on depth measurement using a new biotelemetry system under natural conditions.

2.2 Materials and methods

2.2.1 Biotelemetry system

The transmitters used in this study were Gold code transmitters equipped with pressure (depth) and temperature sensors (AQPX-1040PT; AquaSound Inc., Kobe, Japan; 9.5 mm in diameter and 36 mm in length, 1.6 g in water) broadcasting signals consisting of three consecutive 2-ms pulses. The source level of the transmitters was 155 dB re 1 μ Pa at 1 m, and the frequency of the transmitter was 62.5 kHz. The acoustic monitoring receivers (AQRM-1000; AquaSound Inc., Tokyo, Japan; 64 mm in diameter and 300 mm in length) were capable of simultaneously identifying multiple pulses from the plural transmitters using cross-correlation values. The receivers stored detection data in CSV format on an SD card. Data was then retrieved and downloaded for analysis. Receivers had a battery life of approximately two months with three D-size cells.

2.2.2 Field experiment

A field experiment was conducted in a shallow sea area (bottom depth, approx. 10 m) near Kaminokae fishing port, Kochi, Japan, on August 19, 2015, because we assumed that shallow water would be an important area to observe group fish behavior. Water temperature in the experimental area was 27.6°C. Eight transmitters with unique IDs were deployed at a fixed position, with a signal interval of 1.28 s. Three (IDs: C1, C2, and C3) of the eight transmitters were 3.0 m deep, three were (ID: C4, C5, and C6) placed at 4.0 m, and the remaining two (ID: C7 and C8) were placed at 5.0 m (Fig. 2-1). Two receivers were deployed at a depth of 2.0 m and were 18.5 m (R1) and 38.5 m (R2) horizontally away from the transmitters, considering the mean horizontal size of the fish schools observed around set-nets using scanning sonar, namely, 37 m in length and 15 m in width (Inoue, 1987). The reason the receivers were not deployed near the sea surface was to avoid unfavorable environmental conditions for the hydrophones, such as the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) deterioration due to the noise induced collapse of waves by wind and exposure to the air due to vertical vibration of the sea surface. The horizontal distance between the receivers and the transmitters was sufficient for inter-individual tagging studies. The actual detection range varied across the study area, period, and season. Although the distances used might be conservative for VPS-like studies, the evaluation of simultaneous identification at relatively short distances was adequate for the purpose of this study. The bottom depths of R1, R2, and the transmitters were 9.1, 8.8, and 9.3 m, respectively. Recording duration was 15 min. The detection rates and duration of the transmitters were calculated as a percentage of the number of signals recorded by the receiver to the number of signals emitted by the transmitter, which was estimated

by dividing duration (15 min = 900 s) by the signal-transmitting interval (1.28 s). Mean recorded signal intervals were calculated by dividing the duration by the number of signals recorded.

Measurement accuracies of the depth of each transmitter by R1 and R2 were defined as mean of absolute values of difference between the recorded depths and the actual installation depths. Only the depth information, except for temperature information, was used for further analyses. The depth data were categorized into the following 4 groups: (A) Correct values:

The correct values range within plus or minus 0.15 m to the average depths of each transmitter in accordance with the resolution of depth censor in the transmitters.

- (B) Phantom values caused by reflection at the sea surface, and
- (C) Phantom values caused by reflection at the sea bottom:
 - By using the installation depths of the transmitters and the receivers, the distances between them, and a sound velocity (1500 m/s), time difference of arrival between direct and reflected pulse at the sea surface and bottom were estimated, assuming that a pulse was reflected only once at either of the boundaries. Two types of measurement depth affected by the reflection were then calculated – the measurement depth between the direct 1st pulse and the reflected 2nd pulse, and between the reflected 1st pulse and the direct 2nd pulse. The phantom values caused by reflection at the sea surface and bottom were within plus or minus 0.30 m of the measurement depth affected by the reflection of each transmitter.
- (D) Other values:

The remaining values that did not match with the estimated values of cases (A), (B) and (C) were categorized into 'other values'



Fig. 2-1. Schematic drawing of the vertical profile arrangement of the eight transmitters (C1–8) and the two receivers (R1 and R2) in the experiment.

2.3 Results

Median R1 and R2 detection rates were 77.0% (range: 57.6–81.4; N = 8) and 73.0% (range: 54.7–90.3; N = 8), respectively (Fig. 2-2). The mean recorded signal intervals were 1.67 s for R1 and 1.76 s for R2. The mean accuracy of the depth measurement was 0.38 ± 0.37 m for R1 and 0.46 ± 0.50 m for R2. Mean proportions of categorized depth data to the total number of the depth data recorded in R1 were (A) $88.4 \pm 6.5\%$, (B) $8.1 \pm 4.5\%$, (C) $0.6 \pm 0.9\%$, and (D) $2.9 \pm 2.5\%$. Those values in R2 were (A) $86.3 \pm 4.8\%$, (B) $3.2 \pm 2.5\%$, (C) $5.3 \pm 3.2\%$, and (D) $5.2 \pm 2.0\%$ (Fig. 2-3).



Fig. 2-2. Detection rates (%: number of signals recorded by each receiver/number of signals emitted by each transmitter × 100) of signals transmitted from the eight transmitters (C1–8) to the two receivers (R1 and R2). The horizontal distances from the transmitters (HDT) to R1 and R2 were 18.5 m and 38.0 m, respectively.



Fig. 2-3. Proportions of four types of categorized depth measurements (Mean + SD, N = 7 transmitters) recorded in receiver1 (R1) and receiver2 (R2). Horizontal distances between the transmitters and R1, and R2 were 18.5 m, and 38.0 m, respectively.

2.4 Discussion

The results show that multiple signals from plural transmitters were detected simultaneously and discriminated by receivers deployed at distances of the mean size of a fish school. The mean recorded intervals in this study were so short that data were collected with adequately high time resolution for observing fish group behavior. It is difficult to obtain such high frequency resolution data with a widely used telemetry system and monotone transmitters. A detection rate < 100% might be caused by environmental noise, opportunistic collisions, or false detection. The detection rates of certain signals from the transmitters tended to be lower in both R1 and R2 (Fig. 2-2). The variability in the detection rates among the eight transmitters may have also resulted from those factors. However, the signals from the telemetry system used in this study rarely collide (Miyamoto et al., 2011), and environmental noise would equally affect all transmitter signals. It is unlikely that the false detection rate of a

particular transmitter was much higher or lower than that of another due to a systematic receiver malfunction. The reasons for the different detection rates should be clarified in a future study.

Unlike Hasegawa et al. (2016), the phantom values originated from the pulses reflected at not only the sea surface but also the sea bottom (Fig. 2-3). This may have resulted from propagation characteristics in shallow waters with multipath effects. Other values might include a plurality of reflections at both surface and bottom. Nonetheless, accuracy of depth measurements was 0.38 ± 0.37 m for R1 and 0.46 ± 0.50 m for R2, which was considerably high. Additionally, proportion of correct values (88.4 ± 6.5% in R1, and 86.3 ± 4.8% in R2) occupied a majority of the acquired data, and apparently higher than phantom values from the surface (8.1 ± 4.5% in R1, and $3.2 \pm 2.5\%$ in R2) and from the bottom ($0.6 \pm 0.9\%$ in R1, and $5.3 \pm 3.2\%$ in R2), and also other values ($2.9 \pm 2.5\%$ in R1, and $5.2 \pm 2.0\%$ in R2; Fig. 2-2). Those results suggest that the biotelemetry system would provide accurate depth information.

The new telemetry system with phase modulation transmitters and BCT (Holland et al., 2009)-like inter-individual tags allowed us to observe group fish behavior at a high time frequency resolution. The BCTs (Holland et al., 2009) and the telemetry system used by Guttridge et al. (2010) were unable to detect short interactions between animals and could not detect the ID under a fish schooling condition because of a limitation of monotone transmitters. BCTs (Holland et al., 2009) were not designed to detect interactions when animals are in brief proximity to each other. A single transmitter used by Guttridge et al. (2010) theoretically took 3-4 s to be identified, and many other transmitters would take longer to be identified due to colliding signals. However, the mean recorded signal intervals were < 2 s in this study, so the inter-individual tags with phase modulation transmitters allowed us to obtain data showing when they met each other, how long they were together, and when they parted. Schooling, aggregating, and dispersing behaviors were observed when several fish of the same species were tagged, although the exact locations where the behavior

occurred could not be pinpointed.

On the other hand, the VPS-like positioning system allowed monitoring of the positions of many individuals because of the simultaneous signal identification capability. For example, Masuda et al. (2003) showed the development of schooling behavior in larval and juvenile Spanish mackerel Scomberomorus niphonius, and Marras et al. (2014) reported that any individual fish in a school gains an energy benefit compared with swimming alone, regardless of their spatial position. Those studies were conducted in laboratory tanks. Group behavior in a natural environment can be further understood using the new telemetry system with phase modulation transmitters by observing inter-individual interactions, such as distance, relative speed, and angles, among individual fish. A large number of artificially propagated seedlings are released in one location for stock enhancement studies. For example, Wada et al. (2014) released 27,900 and 53,217 spotted halibut Verasper variegatus seedlings into a shallow brackish lagoon (Matsukawa-ura) in 2003 and 2004, respectively. However, it was difficult to monitor their movement just after release using monotone transmitters. The new telemetry system would determine the movements of these artificially propagated seedlings after release; thus, actual survival rates and preferable release sites could be determined. If both predator and prey were tagged with transmitters, predator-prey interactions could be observed on a more precise spatiotemporal scale. Furthermore, it would be possible to observe courtship and territorial behaviors.

This study shows the possibility of better understanding fish group behavior and movement using a new biotelemetry system with phase modulation transmitters. This system will be increasingly applied in studies on fish schooling behavior, movements of many fish in a limited area, and inter- and intra-specific interactions in the future.

2.5 Conclusions

In this chapter, I described ability of a biotelemetry system used in this study, which can simultaneously identify multiple signals in natural environment. This biotelemetry system will have an ability to observe multiple aquatic organisms at precise time scale. In the next chapter, development of fine-scale 3-dimensional positioning method using this biotelemetry system is introduced.
Chapter 3

Development and application of fine-scale spatiotemporal positioning method in natural environment

3.1 Introduction

Biotelemetry techniques have been widely used in the past two decades to monitor the behaviour and movements of many aquatic organisms (Cooke et al., 2004; Hussey et al., 2015; Hays et al., 2016). Acoustic positioning methods using ultrasonic transmitters and moored receivers have also advanced to meet the challenges posed by observing the exact positions of aquatic organisms, including fish, with accuracy of approximately 3-10 m based on a hyperbolic positioning technique (see Cote et al., 1998; Klimley et al., 2001; Andrews et al., 2011; Espinoza et al., 2011; Gergé et al., 2012; Roy et al., 2014). These positioning methods have revealed the details of behaviour and movements of tagged individuals using positional information le.g. homing behaviour (Mitamura et al., 2009; 2012) and movement patterns (Wolfe and Lowe, 2015; Williams-Grove and Szedlmayer, 2016)]. Behavioural intermittence (e.g. stops, or drastic changes in speed) is also a popular topic in movement ecology. Behavioural intermittence is significant to animal locomotion during activities (e.g.

feeding, directed movements toward a nest, or habitat assessments) because sharp reorientations often follow the intermittence (Bartumeus, 2007; Bartumeus and Levin, 2008). To observe the intermittence of aquatic organisms in a limited area, their positions at fine-scale spatiotemporal resolutions should be obtained. However, there are many challenges to tracking aquatic organisms at finer-scale temporal (5–10 s) and spatial (<1 m) resolutions. This is because conventional telemetry systems require a wider signal-transmitting interval (>30 s) to reduce collisions between received signals (Løkkeborg et al., 2002), and because the positioning accuracy of such systems is merely 3–10 m (see Cote et al., 1998; Klimley et al., 2001; Andrews et al., 2011; Espinoza et al., 2011; Gergé et al., 2012; Roy et al., 2014).

Recently, telemetry systems have been developed to enable the simultaneous tracking of multiple fish at higher temporal resolutions. For example, CDMA MAP technology can localize ~75% of transmissions from 22 tagged fish at 15 s intervals with sub-metre accuracy, and was used to develop a spatial histogram of tagged fish in a small lake (9.2 ha) based on their observed positions (Cooke et al., 2005). A new biotelemetry system consisting of phase modulation-coded transmitters ('Gold code transmitter') and receivers, developed by Miyamoto et al. (Miyamoto et al., 2010; 2011), can simultaneously identify ~75% of multiple coded signals at a transmitting interval of 1.28 s, which was demonstrated in the previous chapter. As the receiver has a sampling frequency of 1 MHz, the theoretical baseline positional resolution will be only 1.5 mm (dividing the underwater sound velocity 1,500 $\mathbf{m} \cdot \mathbf{s}^{-1}$ by 1,000,000 Hz) based the on time-difference-of-arrival (TDOA). This biotelemetry system should thus be capable of simultaneously observing the precise movements of multiple fish, a feat that conventional telemetry positioning systems with sub-metre accuracy have not achieved. However, the positioning performance of this new biotelemetry system has never been examined.

In this chapter, a simultaneous positioning system with high spatiotemporal resolution using Gold code transmitters and receivers was proposed. In order to evaluate the positioning performance of the proposed system, multiple stationary transmitters were firstly localised. Then, movement of free-swimming coastal fish (Siebold's wrasse *Pseudolabrus sieboldi*) was simultaneously observed for application of the proposed system. Subsequently, the stop-and-go behavioural intermittence of the fish homing to their original location from an unsuitable location was observed.

3.2 Materials and methods

The Director-General of the Hiroshima Prefectural Agriculture, Forestry, and Fisheries Station issued permission for fish collection for study in this chapter around Ikuno Island. All procedures including the sampling protocol and the tagging surgery in this study were approved by the Animal Research Committee of Kyoto University (permit number: Inf-K15003).

3.2.1 Biotelemetry system

Two types of Gold code transmitters and acoustic monitoring receivers (AQRM-1000, AquaSound Inc., Kobe, Japan; 64 mm in diameter and 300 mm in length), successors to the models developed by Miyamoto et al. (Miyamoto et al., 2010; 2011), were used in this study. Gold code transmitters transmit signals consisting of three consecutive 2 ms short pulses coded by one of 32 Gold codes at a frequency of 62.5 kHz. Gold codes are single pseudo noise (PN) codes in pairs of M-sequences, which can decrease the false identification rate (Gold, 1967). Pressure and temperature sensors were incorporated into the Gold code transmitters, allowing swimming depth and ambient temperature information to be encoded in the intervals between the 1st and 2nd, then 2nd and 3rd pulses, respectively. The system accuracies were 0.5 m (pressure sensor), and 0.2 °C (temperature sensor). Temperature data observed was not used for analysis in this study because it was unnecessary for evaluating the positioning performance. The acoustic monitoring receiver simultaneously

identified multiple pulses from multiple transmitters at once using cross-correlation values (Takagi et al., 2016). The receivers stored detection data in CSV format on an SD card. Data was then retrieved and downloaded for analysis. Receivers had a battery life of approximately two months with three D-size cells.

3.2.2 Study site

Field experiments were conducted in a shallow sea area near the east coast of Ikuno Island (34°29'N, 132°92'E) in the Seto Inland Sea, Japan, in October 2015 (Fig. 3-1a-b). The depth of the seafloor in the area was separated into shallower (<4 m) and deeper (>8 m) levels by steep gradients (Fig. 3-1c). The sea bottom of the area was covered with sand and mud. There were two rocky areas in the deeper area along the boundary between the two levels (Fig. 3-1c). The tidal difference during the experiments was approximately 3.5 m.

An array of seven receivers with overlapping detection ranges was deployed on the seafloor in the study area (Fig. 3-1c), covering an area of 13590.2 m². Actual receiver locations were determined using a handheld GPS unit (Garmin eTrex 30J). Seven Gold code transmitters (AQTD-600P, AquaSound Inc., Kobe, Japan; 27 mm diameter and 130 mm length) were placed, one with each receiver. The transmitters emitted signals at ~60 s intervals with a root mean square (RMS) sound pressure level (SPL) of 160 dB re 1 µPa at 1 m. The transmitter's battery life was approximately one month using a single CR2 lithium cell. The sound speed was calculated using mutual signal detections between all receiver pairs. Receiver internal clocks were synchronised using calculated sound speed, determined receiver locations, and signal TDOAs. A conservative range (~75 m) between the receivers was used to increase mutual signal detections between receivers, although a preliminary experiment showed their detection range to be >100 m.



Fig. 3-1. Acoustic array of seven receivers and transmitters for the experiment deployed off Ikuno Island, central Seto Inland Sea, southwestern Japan. (a)–(c) The array line represents the boundary between the outside and inside of the array. Vertical lines denoted by 4 m and 8 m represent the depth contour. There were two rocky areas (RA1 and RA2) on the east side of the array, where the Siebold's wrasses used as specimens in this study were caught. (d) Seven receivers (R) and five transmitters (T) fixed on the seafloor. Horizontal and vertical axes denote the relative coordinate axes, adjusted to the central receiver (R1) of the array.

3.2.3 Positioning method

The horizontal and vertical components of 3D positions were obtained separately. Horizontal positions were calculated using the proposed acoustic positioning method in this study, whereas vertical positions (swimming depth) were provided by a pressure sensor installed in the transmitters. 3D positioning was not feasible because the study site had little vertical range ($\sim 2-8$ m) compared to its horizontal range (~ 75 m).

When the three receivers detected a signal, the horizontal position of its sound source was estimated as an intersection of the three hyperbolae formed by signal TDOAs, the calculated sound speed, and the distance between the receivers for a final resolution of 1 mm (Fig. 3-2a). Six subsets of close equilateral triangles were used to estimate positions: R1, R2, and R3; R1, R3, and R4; R1, R4, and R5; R1, R5, and R6; R1, R6, and R7; or R1, R7, and R2 (Fig. 3-1d). When a signal was detected by the receivers that included two or more subsets of the close equilateral triangles, the position was estimated using every subset (Fig. 3-2b). A single position was then selected using the shortest distance between the centroid of the estimated positions and the centroid of the close equilateral triangles used for positioning (Fig. 3-2c–d), because shorter distances imply improved horizontal delusion of precision (HDOP) values. The HDOP represents the horizontal portion of the delusion of precision (DOP), which is universally used as a positioning precision index for GPS (Langley, 1999). All positioning calculations were performed using relative coordinates modified from universal transverse Mercator (UTM) coordinates, the origin of which was adjusted to R1 (Fig. 3-1d). Positioning and spatial analyses were performed in Matlab R2017a (The Math works, Natick, Ma, USA).



Fig 3-2. Example procedure of the proposed positioning method in this study. (a) A sound source position of a signal was horizontally estimated as an intersection (blue star) of three hyperbolae (bold, dashed, and dotted lines) by any subsets of close equilateral triangles. (b) When the signal was detected by five receivers forming three subsets (red, green, and blue triangles), three tentative estimates (red, green, and blue stars) were obtained by each subset. (c) Then, the distance between the centroid of three tentative estimates (small black triangle) and the three centroids of each subset (small red, green, and blue triangles) was calculated. (d) Finally, the estimated position by the blue triangle subset was selected for the final estimate using a criterion of the shortest distance.

3.2.4 Stationary test

The positioning performance of the proposed method was tested using stationary Gold code transmitters (AQPX-1040PT, AquaSound Inc., Kobe, Japan; 9.5 mm diameter, 36 mm length, 1.6 g weight in water) with a signal-transmitting interval of ~5.0 s and RMS SPL of 155 dB re 1 μ Pa at 1

m. Their battery life was approximately one week. Five Gold code transmitters were placed on the seafloor at five fixed points for 20 min. The seafloor depths of the fixed Gold code transmitter positions ranged from 2.5–2.8 m (Table 3-1). Two of them (T1 and T4) were placed near a centroid of triangulation, one (T2) near a vertex, one (T3) on a baseline, and the remaining one (T5) outside triangulation (Fig. 3-1d).

The positional precision and probability of location were calculated, allowing both the spatial and temporal resolution of the proposed positioning method to be evaluated. The positioning precision was defined as the mode distance between each estimate and the centroid of the estimates because the distribution form of the distance was right-skewed. The mean±standard deviation (sd) and 95-percentile distances of each estimate from the centroid of the estimates were also calculated. Furthermore, the directional distribution (95% deviational ellipse) of the estimates was displayed for visual comprehension. The probability of location was defined as the proportion (%) of the number of estimates to the number of actual transmissions made by each Gold code transmitter. The positional accuracy (i.e. the distance between the estimated and actual location) was not evaluated in this study because the predicted positional precision was significantly smaller than the GPS accuracy (normally a few metres).

A generalised linear mixed model (GLMM) using the gamma distribution with the log link function was employed to examine whether the location of the transmitter (near the triangulation centre, near the vertex, on the baseline, and outside triangulation) affected positional precision. The model included the location of the transmitter as a fixed effects factor and the transmitter IDs as a random effects factor. The model was fitted using the glmer function in the lme4 package for R ver. 3.1.3 (R Core Team, 2017).

Transmitter ID	Location	Installation depth (m)
T1	Near triangulation Centre	2.5
T2	Near vertex	2.5
Т3	On baseline	2.7
T4	Near triangulation Centre	2.5
T5	Outside triangulation	2.8

Table 3-1. Summary of deployment information for five transmitters employed during stationary testing.

3.2.5 Free-swimming fish test

Positioning performance was also tested using Siebold's wrasse as free-swimming fish specimens. The Siebold's wrasse is one of the most common species in rocky areas on the western coast of Japan (Mabuchi and Nakabo, 1997), making it is easy to obtain multiple specimens from the same location. Furthermore, male Siebold's wrasses demonstrate site fidelity during the spawning season (from late September to mid-November), which occurred during the experimental period (Matsumoto et al., 1997). These wrasses were well suited for studying their movements using the developed positioning system as they travelled in their natural environment from an unsuitable to a suitable place (rocky areas) after displacement.

Seven male Siebold's wrasses [N=7, total length (TL): 21.5 ± 0.9 cm (mean±sd), body weight (BW): 150.1 ± 15.2 g] (Table 3-2) were captured by fishing with a baited hook and line in two rocky areas (Fig. 3-1c) between 23 to 26 October 2015. One of the seven fish (F1) was caught in rocky area 1, and the remaining six (F2-7) in rocky area 2. Specimens were kept in a round tank (~1280 mm diameter, 815 mm height, 1000 litre volume) for 2–5 days until the experiment. The tank was filled with ~600 litre fresh seawater flowing of ~10 litre • min⁻¹. Gold code transmitters (AQPX-1040PT, AquaSound Inc., Kobe, Japan) with signal transmitting intervals of ~5.0 s were surgically inserted into the abdominal cavities of the fish under

anaesthesia induced with 0.1% 2-phenoxyethanol. The fish were placed between rubber sponges in baths of fresh bubbling seawater throughout the procedure. After the procedure, they were kept in fresh seawater until they came out of the anaesthesia.

Fish ID	Body weight (g)	Total length (cm)
F1	173	22.4
F2	152	21.5
F3	135	21.1
F4	127	20.0
F5	152	22.3
F6	159	22.2
F7	153	21.1
Mean ± sd	150.1 ± 15.2	21.5 ± 0.9

Table 3-2. Fish information of the seven tagged Siebold's wrasses.

The tagged fish were then placed in an upside down transparent container with small holes and kept on the sea bottom (3.5 m depth) at a release point inside the array approximately 87 m and 132 m away from rocky areas 1 and 2 (Fig. 3-1c), respectively. The release point was on a flat sea bottom of muddy sediment. As the tagged fish inhabited and had been caught in rocky areas, the release point was suspected to be an unsuitable environment for them. After 35 min of acclimation, the container was slowly opened and the tagged fish were simultaneously released at 14:56 on 28 October, 2015. Their 3D positions were monitored until 9:00 on 30 October. Whether the tagged fish homed to the rocky area was determined using an additional receiver deployed at each rocky area the next day. The additional two receivers were not used for positioning.

Outliers were removed from raw data obtained by the proposed positioning method using speed limitation. I conservatively set 5 TL \cdot s⁻¹ as

the maximum swimming speed in this study due to the cruising speed [generally less than 2–3 body length (BL) \cdot s⁻¹]. Burst swimming was not considered because, in this study, the target movement was relatively long-term movement while traveling. If the speed between two consecutive raw data points exceeded 5 TL \cdot s⁻¹, the latter point was removed. Removed data comprised 6.8±8.8% of the raw data (N=7, range: 0–19.5% or 0–335 data points). To test the positioning performance of the proposed method for locating free-swimming fish following the same method as for the stationary test, the probabilities of location and positioning intervals of the seven tagged fish within the array were examined. The positioning interval was defined as the mean value of intervals between all consecutive pairs of data points.

To examine the intermittent locomotion of fish travelling from an unsuitable to a suitable area, their locomotion modes were categorised into two types: 'stop' and 'move'. First, routes between the release point and rocky areas were extracted using a swimming depth threshold of <4 m. Movements at night [30 min after sunset (17:52) to 30 min before sunrise (5:57)] were omitted from further analyses because Siebold's wrasse follow the diurnal habits common to labrid fish and do not travel distances at night (e.g. Nishi, 1989; 1990). Route data was spatially interpolated every 5 s if there were zero or one missing values between each data step (a temporal interval between two consecutive data points $<\sim 10$ s). If the distance between two consecutive estimates was ≤ 0.64 m, the tagged fish was categorized in the 'stop' mode at both points. A 'stop' phase was defined as sequential 'stop' modes (Fig. 3-3). Conversely, if the distance was >0.64 m, the tagged fish was categorized in the 'move' mode at the latter point. A 'move' phase was defined as sequential 'move' modes (Fig 3-3). Missing values were ignored in distance calculations. The 0.64 m threshold was defined as 2× the maximum 95-percentile distance from the stationary test (0.32 m; see Table 3-3 in results section). Turn angles in the two phases were then calculated. The turn angle in 'move' phases was defined as the difference in destinations between any set of three sequential estimates

 $(-180^{\circ} < \theta \le 180^{\circ}; \text{ see Fig. } 3 \cdot 3)$ whereas the turn angle of 'stop' phases was defined as the difference between the final destination of the preceding 'move' phase and the first destination of the following 'move' phase $(-180^{\circ} < \theta \le 180^{\circ}; \text{ see Fig. } 3-3)$. Turn angles in 'stop' phases were categorised into two types, first-half turns and second-half turns, according to our hypothesis that the tagged fish would display movement with angled turns during the first-half of their return due to tendencies of homing fish displaying searching behaviour just after release (e.g. Mitamura et al., 2012) and Calson et al., 1995). If the tagged fish stayed overnight in their travels, movements until 30 min after sunset and from 30 min before sunrise were categorised into the first-half and the second-half, respectively. If the tagged fish finished traveling within the release day, the first and second halves were separated by the traveling period. Turn angles were calculated only when all time step data was available without missing values. Circular statistical analyses were performed using functions in the circular package for R ver. 3.1.3 (R Core Team, 2017).

To show the spatiotemporal resolution of the proposed method, the number of 'stop' phases, distance travelled, speed, and turn angles were compared between five resampled data sets. Routes were also interpolated at 10, 30, 60, and 300 s intervals using the manner previously described. The distance travelled was calculated as the cumulative distance from 'move' phases and the distance between first and last point in 'stop' phases. Speed was calculated only where there were no missing values between any two consecutive interpolated data points in the 'move' phase. The speed distribution in each sampling interval (5, 10, 30, 60, and 300 s) was estimated using a kernel density estimation. Turn angles during the 'move' phase, first half of the 'stop' phase, and second half of the 'stop' phase at each sampling interval were examined using a Rayleigh test (Zar, 2010) to determine whether there was a uniform distribution. If there was not a uniform distribution, a V-test (Zar, 2010) was conducted to determine whether it was concentrated around 0°.



Fig 3-3. Schematic diagram of turn angles in a 'move' phase (0 move) and 'stop' phase (0 stop).

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Stationary test

The positional precision was 0.056 ± 0.033 m (N=5; range 0.012-0.093 m; Fig. 3-4, Fig. 3-5, and Table 3-3) and probability of location was $83.6\pm14.0\%$ (N=5, range 60.5-96.0%; Table 3-3). The estimated distribution of the distance between each estimate and the centroid of estimates was right-skewed in all transmitters (Fig. 3-4). The 95-percentile of distance was 0.232 ± 0.070 m (N=5, range 0.136-0.322 m; Fig. 3-4 and Table 3-3). The pressure sensor in the transmitters provided accurate depth information within a strict range, enabling high spatial resolution 3D positioning (Table 3-1, and Table 3-3). The results from the GLMM indicated that the positional precision of transmitters installed near centroid was higher than that of transmitters installed at other places (Table 3-4).

Transmitter	Depth provided by	Detection	Probability of	Distance (m) each estimate – centroid of estimates		
<u> </u>		Tale (70)		Mode	Mean ± sd	95%
T1	2.5 ± 0.02	95.7 ± 5.0	96.0	0.012	0.081 ± 0.049	0.20
T2	2.5 ± 0.06	87.8 ± 14.9	80.6	0.093	0.111 ± 0.058	0.25
Т3	2.7 ± 0.05	79.0 ± 18.5	60.5	0.037	0.110 ± 0.081	0.32
T4	2.5 ± 0.05	92.6 ± 10.9	90.7	0.057	0.069 ± 0.027	0.14
Т5	2.8 ± 0.06	90.8 ± 8.9	90.4	0.080	0.115 ± 0.063	0.26

Table 3-3. Summary of the positioning results of the five transmitters employed during stationary testing.

Table 3-4. Generalised linear mixed model for positional precision. Model coefficients for fixed
 effects are presented.

Explanatory variables	Coefficients	Standard error	t-value p-value
(Intercept)	-2.59014	0.02654	-97.577 <0.001
Near centroid*			
On baseline	0.38023	0.05499	6.915 <0.001
Outside triangulation	0.42760	0.04702	9.093 <0.001
Near vertex	0.38738	0.04812	8.051 <0.001

* Standard category



Fig. 3-4. Kernel density estimation of the distance between the centroid of all estimates and each estimate of the five stationary transmitters. The distribution of transmitters 1–5 is represented in (a)–(e), respectively. The dashed line indicates the mode value, and the dotted line indicates the 95-percentile value.



Fig. 3-5. Stationary test results. (a) 2D estimates with their centroid, and 95% eclipse for the deployment of T1 near a centroid of triangulation, and (b) T5 outside triangulation.

3.3.2 Free-swimming fish test

The 3D positions of the seven tagged Siebold's wrasses were obtained simultaneously with fine temporal resolution as they escaped from an unsuitable to a suitable area by freely swimming around the receiver array after release (Fig 3-6). The tagged fish stayed within the 13590.19 m² array for 7574.3 \pm 17419.3 s (N=7, range 280.1-47023.9 s; see Table 3-5), during which 1071 \pm 2424 estimates (N=7, range 27-6558 estimates; see Table 3-5) were obtained. Their probability of location was 69.1 \pm 15.3% (N=7, range 46.6-89.4%; see Table 3-5), and the positioning interval was 7.4 \pm 1.7 s (N=7, range 5.6-10.4 s; see Table 3-5). Their swimming depth within the array averaged ~3 m, suggesting they remained on the seafloor during both 'stop' and 'move' phases at least in the shallower zone of the study area (Table 3-5 and Fig 3-6).



Fig 3-6. 3D estimates of seven tagged Siebold's wrasses (F1-7) during the monitoring period. Estimates for F1-7 are shown in (a)–(g), respectively, with colour variations indicating swimming depths.

Fish ID	Residence time (s)	N of estimates	Probability of location (%)	Mean positioning interval (s)	Swimming depth (m)*
F1	461.4	58	59.8	8	3.5 ± 0.1
F2	521.9	93	89.4	5.6	3.4 ± 0.1
F3	47023.9	6558	69.2	7.2	3.6 ± 0.1
F4	280.1	27	46.6	10.4	3.4 ± 0.1
F5	320.1	38	57.6	8.4	3.4 ± 0.1
F6	1690.1	270	79.9	6.3	3.5 ± 0.1
F7	2723	458	81.2	5.9	3.3 ± 0.1
Mean ± sd	7574.3 ± 17419.3	1071 ± 2424	69.1 ± 15.3	7.4 ± 1.7	-

 Table 3-5. Positioning results within the array of the seven tagged Siebold's wrasses.

^a Represented as mean±standard deviation

All tagged fish returned to suitable areas (original rocky areas) from the unsuitable release area (a muddy flat area) before the following morning. Four of the seven tagged fish (F1, F5, F6, and F7) moved east and settled around the rocky areas before sunset on the release day, and a single tagged fish (F1) homed to its original location (Figs 3-6a, 3-6e, 3-6f, and 3-6g). One tagged fish (F2) moved toward the north immediately following release, then turned clockwise and reached home before sunset by traveling around the array in a 'Z' pattern (Fig. 3-6b). The remaining two tagged fish (F3 and F4) stayed around the array overnight: one (F3) settled near the release point, whereas the other (F4) settled at a northern point in the array after wandering the northern and western sides of the array until sunset. The next morning after sunrise, F3 and F4 moved toward the rocky areas, and F3 homed to its original location (Figs 3-6c and 3-6d).

Intermittent stop-and-go locomotion was observed in the routes of the seven tagged fish. Using 5 s sampling intervals, the tagged fish stopped 11.3±10.3 times (N=7, range 1-30 times) on routes lasting 17851.4±27545.6 s (N=7, range 275-58545 s; Table 3-6) excluding nights. The duration of the 'stop' phase was 277.6±653.5 s and the median duration was 30.0 s (N=79, range 5-3555 s). The 'move' phase turn angle distribution at 5 s sampling intervals was significantly concentrated around 0° (V-test, mean vector=0°, W=0.72, p<0.001; Table 3-6). The first half 'stop' phase distribution was not significantly concentrated in any direction (Rayleigh test, W=0.14, p>0.05; Table 3-7); conversely, the second half distribution was significantly concentrated around 0° (V-test, mean vector=0°, W=0.61, p<0.001; Table 3-7).

Increasing the sampling interval decreased the number of stop phases (Fig. 3-7a) and also decreased the distance travelled (Table 3-6 and Fig. 3-7b). The speed distribution in the 'move' phase became gradually right-skewed when increasing the sampling interval (Fig. 3-7c). The turn angle distribution of the 'move' phase was significantly concentrated around 0° at all six sampling intervals (V-test, mean vector = 0°; see Table 3-7), while that of the first half of the 'stop' phase was not significantly concentrated in any direction with all six sampling intervals (Rayleigh test, p>0.05; see Table 3-7). In the second half of the 'stop' phase, there was no significant concentration in any direction in the turn angles sampled at 10, 30, and 60 s intervals (Rayleigh test, p>0.05; see Table 3-7) although there was less data with increased sampling intervals. At 5 s intervals, the turn angle distribution in the second half of the 'stop' phase had significant concentration around 0° (V-test, mean vector = 0°, W=0.61, p<0.001; see Table 3-7).

Table 3-6. Duration and distance travelled in five resampling intervals of movement routes of seven tagged Siebold's wrasses.

Fish ID	Duration ^b (s) [—]	Distance travelled (m)					
		5 s	10 s	30 s	60 s	300 s	
	F1	825	229.8	219.7	198.7	163.7	60.4
	F2	3050	494.4	492.2	469.8	455.0	407.8
	F3 ^a	15045	288.6	279.3	251.1	222.6	146.2
	F4 ^a	14250	1817.5	1808.4	1759.6	1666.5	1188.5
	F5	275	100.6	98.0	86.2	78.5	n/a
	F6	1795	106.9	100.6	89.6	68.9	16.9
	F7	2720	117.7	116.4	96.7	87.8	62.7

^a Without nights (17:52-5:57 the next day).

^b In 5 s resampling interval.

Phase	Sampling interval (s)	Number of data	Test statistics ^a	p-value
	5	1373	V, <i>W</i> =0.72	<0.001
	10	1120	V, <i>W</i> =0.50	<0.001
Move	30	567	V, <i>W</i> =0.34	<0.001
	60	381	V, <i>W</i> =0.28	<0.001
	300	179	V, <i>W</i> =0.22	<0.001
	5	57	R, <i>W</i> =0.14	>0.05
	10	47	R, <i>W</i> =0.29	>0.05
Stop in first half	30	29	R, <i>W</i> =0.06	>0.05
	60	21	R, <i>W</i> =0.12	>0.05
	300	17	R, <i>W</i> =0.36	>0.05
	5	24	V, <i>W</i> =0.61	<0.001
	10	19	R, <i>W</i> =0.14	>0.05
Stop in second half	30	8	R, <i>W</i> =0.55	>0.05
	60	6	R, <i>W</i> =0.16	>0.05
	300	2	n/a	

Table 3-7. Summary of turn angles in 'move' mode, and first and second halves of 'stop' mode at six sampling intervals.

^a n/a indicates that there were too few data points to test. The V-test (V) with a mean vector of 0° was used when a null hypothesis of uniform distribution was rejected by the Rayleigh test (R).



Fig 3-7. Comparison of stop numbers, distance travelled, and speed of tagged Siebold's wrasse. (a) Number of 'stop' phases and (b) distance travelled as a proportion of that at 5 s sampling intervals for the seven tagged Siebold's wrasse in five resampling interval lengths (5, 10, 30, 60 and 300 s). The error bar indicates the standard mean error. (c) Kernel density estimation of movement speed only during 'move' phase in the five resampling interval lengths. The speed was standardised (divided by the total length of each fish).

3.4 Discussion

3.4.1 Stationary test

The proposed positioning system using Gold code transmitters and receivers positioned multiple stationary transmitters simultaneously and in 3D with high-precision spatial resolution (<10 cm) and a high probability of location (average >80%). The results demonstrate that the system is capable of simultaneously observing the movements of multiple aquatic animals at a high spatiotemporal resolution. The results from the GLMM show that the positional precision near the centroid of triangulation was significantly higher than that of other installation sites (near the vertex, on the baseline, and outside triangulation) although fewer transmitters were deployed during the stationary test (Table 3). This result is generally known and has been demonstrated in previous studies of positioning methods using the TDOA concept (see Cote et al., 1998; Klimley et al., 2001; Andrews et al., 2011; Espinoza et al., 2011; Gergé et al., 2012; Roy et al., 2014). However, the positional precision of five installation sites was considerably high. Even at the 95% point, the distance from the centroid of estimates was only 0.322 m (Table 1 and Fig 4). One transmitter (T3) had a relatively lower probability of location than those of the remaining four transmitters. This may have been caused by lower detection rates directly linked to poor mutual detection in three receivers (Table 1). Multiple non-detection and/or false-alarm factors should be considered (Kessel et al., 2014): differences in bathymetry or obstacles between transmitters and receivers (see Welsh et al., 2012); environmental noise from motors, snapping shrimp, and other taxa (see Simpfendorfer et al., 2008); and sea surface conditions (see Gjelland and Hedger, 2013). Although signal collisions influenced detection rates (Voegeli et al., 1998), signals in the presented biotelemetry system rarely collided due to their short (2 ms) pulse duration (Miyamoto et al., 2011). This is one of the major advantages of the developed system. The lower detection rate may also be explained by the differences between the transmitters and/or the installation sites. The ultimate cause for this lower

detection rate, however, remains unidentified.

Receiver array geometry and other environmental factors can decrease detection rates (Andrews et al., 2011) and affect positioning performance. Furthermore, biotelemetry has been performed in various fields such as shallow seas, deep seas, narrow rivers or channels, small ponds, and large lakes (Hussey et al., 2015) where various environmental factors affect the propagation of ultrasonic waves (Kessel et al., 2014), resulting in the deterioration of positional precision and location probability. Receivers were deployed to form multiple equilateral triangles, and only equilateral triangulations were used for positioning with the proposed method. Acute- or obtuse-angled triangulation can mathematically deteriorate positional precision due to the use of hyperbolic curves during TDOA positioning (Espinoza et al., 2011). It is necessary to deploy receiver arrays that are mathematically suitable for calculating as many locations as possible. The influence of environmental factors in the proposed biotelemetry system shall be investigated in future studies.

3.4.2 Free-swimming fish test

Seven tagged Siebold's wrasses were simultaneously positioned at high temporal resolution, providing precise data on their movement routes and behavioural intermittence. Intermittent stop-and-go locomotion was observed as the fish travelled from an unsuitable to a suitable area after their displacement. To the authors' knowledge, this study was the first report to demonstrate the homing ability of Siebold's wrasse. At a sampling interval of 5 s, turn angles in the 'move' and the second half of the 'stop' phase were significantly concentrated at 0°; conversely, those in the first half of the 'stop' phase were not concentrated in any direction (Table 5). This implies that the tagged fish tended to change direction after stopping with relatively straight movements during the first half, and travelled in a relatively straight direction during the second half. Thus, the stop-and-go behavioural intermittence of Siebold's wrasse observed in this study appeared linked to reorientation during the first half of traveling from an unsuitable to a suitable area. Animal movements can be understood as scanning and reorientation sequences such as the saltatory search (O'brien et al., 1990) or Lévy patterns (Bartumeus, 2007; Bartumeus and Levin, 2008). Therefore, the tagged fish may have searched for the direction leading to a suitable place (a rocky area, as their familiar location), by scanning for environmental cues using sensory organs. It is possible the tagged fish used an olfactory cue from their habitat, similar to salmonids (Ueda et al., 1998; Kitahasih et al., 2000). For instance, black rockfish Sebastes cheni perform back-and-forth movements in the direction of the current (intermittent locomotion with 180° turns) to detect their homeward direction using olfactory cues (Mitamura et al., 2012). The tagged fish may have sensed an olfactory cue related to the current direction, for instance, an odour of conspecific females from their original location due to the spawning season. They may have also sensed other cues such as bathymetric gradients, including changes in light, temperature, and pressure with depth (see Meckley et al., 2017). Although it is ultimately unknown what the tagged fish did during their first half 'stop' phases, this study demonstrated that the proposed positioning method is capable of observing the intermittent locomotion of free-swimming fish in their natural environment.

It was confirmed that the proposed temporally fine-scale positioning method enables observations of the stop-and-go travels undertaken by tagged fish. The number of observed 'stop' phases decreased as the resampling interval increased (Fig 3-7a). For example, relative to the original 5 s sampling interval, only 75% of 'stop' phases were observed at 10 s intervals. Although the same result might have obtained were the sampling interval less than 5 s, the results show that there were numerous undetected 'stop' phases when longer intervals were used. However, at a sampling interval of 5 s, it was observed that the tagged fish tended to reorient after stopping with straight movements during the first half, and tended to travel in a straight direction thereafter during the second half. This was not observed at >10 s sampling intervals. It was thus the positioning method, with fine-scale temporal resolution, that enabled the observation of stop-and-go travels of tagged fish and the elucidation of their straight movements and reorientation after stopping. Furthermore, the distance travelled was underestimated as resampling intervals increased (Fig 3-7b). Although the distance travelled tends to be overestimated at high frequency sampling intervals due to the fine scale of resolution, especially with GPS (Ryan et al., 2004), it is suspected that the distance travelled at 5 s sampling intervals was not significantly overestimated because the step length while stopped was not considered, and this often leads to overestimations. The speed during 'move' phases was also underestimated as the sampling interval lengthened (Fig 3-7c). It should be considered that a precise sampling interval can never perfectly describe whole movements of tagged fish; nevertheless, it was the case that 'stop' phases related to reorientations were observed at precise (i.e. 5 s) sampling intervals, and not observed at >10 s sampling intervals.

Within the array, the probability of location of the tagged fish was $69.1 \pm 15.3\%$, which was relatively low compared to that of the stationary test (83.6±14.0%). The positioning interval, however, was 7.4±1.7 s, giving an estimate of tagged fish locations at least once every ~ 10 s. Conventional biotelemetry systems typically set their signal transmitting interval between 30–120 s to minimize collisions (see Pincock, 2008); for example, during the simultaneous observation of moving routes using a conventional biotelemetry system, Mitamura et al. obtained positional data sets of the homing behaviour of four black rockfish (Sebastes cheni) at time intervals of 60 s or greater (Mitamura et al., 2012). CDMA MAP technology, which has simultaneous positioning capabilities, was able to localise ~75% of transmissions at 15 s intervals, such that there was an estimate every 20 s on average (Coke et al., 2005). Compared to these positional intervals, the proposed positioning method has the advantage of frequent monitoring in movement routes using positional data. Moreover, the biotelemetry system used in this study could potentially provide more temporally precise

movement observations if the signal-transmitting interval were shortened (i.e. 1.0 or 2.0 s); however, the interval was set to \sim 5.0 s in this experiment. The utilized biotelemetry system is capable of simultaneously identifying multiple high-temporal resolution (<2 s) signals transmitted at 1.28 s intervals (showed in Chapter 2), such that positions can be obtained at a higher temporal resolution than 10 s. These temporally precise positions can provide more detailed movement data than the results shown in this study.

This study developed positioning method capable of а simultaneously pinpointing multiple fish with fine-scale data both in space and time using a new telemetry system that was validated by providing precise 3D positions of seven Siebold's wrasses. Those spatiotemporally fine-scale positions allowed intermittent locomotion to be observed, and revealed that the tagged Siebold's wrasses tended to reorient after 'stop' phases during the first half of their voyage. This method will provide insights into unknown aquatic animal behaviour by providing more detailed movement observations in the future.

3.5 Conclusions

In this chapter, a 3-dimensional acoustic positioning method which can simultaneously localise multiple transmitters at spatially and temporally fine-scale was developed and applied to observing homing behaviour of a coastal fish species, Siebold's wrasse. It was demonstrated that the developed positioning method could observe detailed behaviour of the fish simultaneously bot at high frequent interval and at high positioning precision. This positioning method can be adequately applied to observe movement behaviour of schooling fish. In the next chapter, a challenge to observe schooling behaviour of homing fish, black rockfish, is described.

Chapter 4

Observation of homing behaviour of black rockfish released in a group: do black rockfish use social cues in homing?

4.1 Abstract

The many-wrongs principle applies to one advantage of group movement during navigation in migrating animals. Black rockfish inhabit rocky areas and sympatrically aggregate with many conspecifics. They are well-known for their homing ability. The presence of other conspecifics is an external driver that influences the movement of individuals. When black rockfish recognise other conspecifics, their movements may be motivated by them. Therefore, black rockfish may collectively navigate in their homing journey. My hypotheses were: (1) black rockfish return to their place of origin by forming a group after displacement, and (2) group homing is more efficient than individual homing because of collective navigation. My objective was to test these hypotheses and to use a fine-scale positioning system developed in the previous chapter to determine how black rockfish return to their original habitat. I released four individuals in two groups and single individuals four times. Homing behaviour indicated that the tagged black rockfish released in groups returned to their original habitat but did not travel with other individuals, except for one case in which two individuals moved together for ~ 100 s just after release. They alternated as leader and follower; so, there was no designated leader. My first hypothesis was partially corroborated, but only to a very limited extent. There is a remote possibility that black rockfish use social cues. Contrarily, there were no significant differences between individual and groups of black rockfish in terms of homing rate, period, or distance. Therefore, my second hypothesis was not substantiated in the present study. Homing rockfish tended to travel along the sea bottom and bathymetry line independent of current. Therefore, they use visual rather than olfactory or social cues to return home.

Chapter 5

General discussion

5.1 Contribution to future study

Through this research, I attempted to observe collective movement behaviour in a coastal fish that has site-fidelity and homing ability, and tested hypotheses concerning its potential collective navigation, through the development and application of a fine-scale positioning method using biotelemetry techniques. As a result, I observed that black rockfish did not show schooling behaviour leading to enhanced navigational ability by collective movement. However, results did demonstrate that the method I developed was able to observe whether or not the rockfish moved in a school; thus, the method can potentially be used to observe schooling, i.e., group behaviour, in fish. This study is thus a pilot study that demonstrated the observation of collective movement behaviour by fish by collecting precise and accurate positional data in a natural environment.

The positioning method developed herein will be a powerful tool, which should be able to provide empirical data on the group behaviour of aquatic animals in various fields. Almost all studies on group behaviour in fish have relied on video observations or echo sounders, which often have restricted ranges in space and time (e.g., Marras et al. 2015, Bui et al. 2013). Receivers being deployed in closed environments, or widely and densely in open water, will be able to provide more constant information on the positions of individuals than ever before using the method developed in this thesis. Few studies have been conducted that used data loggers to reveal the mysteries of collective movement in aquatic animals. For example, Noda et al. (2016) elucidated that individual differences in gliding behaviour by schooling Bluefin tuna (*Thunnus orientalis*) were derived from differences in body size through observations made in a fish pen. Adequate and novel results can thus be obtained using data-loggers. However, if receivers were deployed in a fish pen, then positional relationships among individuals could be obtained using the method developed herein, which would allow for more detailed information to be collected. Linking biotelemetry and bio-logging techniques should lead to new insights into fish behaviour from the merging of such information, i.e., what the fish do and where they do it.

The empirical data that will be obtained using this newly developed positioning method in the future will enhance the coupling of the two disciplines of movement ecology and the study of collective movement. Delgado et al. (2014) suggested that the main limitation to inferring the influence of conspecifics on movement behaviour was the need for high-resolution movement data acquired simultaneously from a sufficiently large number of individuals. GPS technology has advanced to the point that we can adequately observe multiple terrestrial animals simultaneously. However, the simultaneous acquisition of movement data for multiple aquatic animals has remained difficult. The positioning method I developed will help researchers to obtain the needed high-resolution movement data for multiple aquatic animals, although the scope of the data collected will be restricted by the receiver array. In most cases, this issue should be resolvable by proper experimental design. Additionally, the positioning method developed will enable researchers to observe interand intra-specific interactions, including not only schooling behaviour, but also prey-predator interactions or mating behaviour, based on fine-scale positional data.

5.2 General conclusions

In this thesis, I developed a fine-scale positioning method utilizing novel technology and biotelemetry techniques, which can simultaneously pinpoint multiple aquatic animals with a fine-scale spatial (<10 cm) and temporal (<10 s) resolution. I then applied the positioning method I developed to testing hypotheses of homing behaviour by black rockfish in the field based on these animals' potential collective navigation. Black rockfish, however, did not exhibit collective movement, at least not in this experiment. In this way, although the hypotheses were only partially supported, I could demonstrate that the positioning method I developed could localize fish precisely enough to potentially observe collective movement behaviour. This study offered a possible method that can be used to observe the collective movement of fish in the field. The positioning method developed in this thesis has great potential to contribute empirical data on the group behaviour of fish, including not only schooling behaviour by conspecifics but also inter- and intra-specific interactions. These data will help advance efforts to link movement ecology and the study of group behaviour.

Acknowledgments

This study would not have been completed without the tremendous support of many people. I would especially like to express my profound gratitude to my supervisor, Associate Prof. Hiromichi Mitamura (Graduate School of Informatics, Kyoto University) for providing me with the chance to study fish schools through biotelemetry and giving me constructive suggestions throughout my student life. My sincere gratitude is also owed to Prof. Kazuyuki Moriya (Graduate School of Informatics, Kyoto University) for his kind guidance and sharp suggestions for my research. Prof. Michinori Hatayama (Disaster Prevention Research Institute, Kyoto University) has attentively provided advice and comments on this study. I would like to offer my special thanks to Associate Prof. Kotaro Ichikawa (Field Science Education and Research Center, Kyoto University) for generous support of fieldwork, as well as uninterrupted camping and fishing. Additionally, without his primary programs my positioning method would not have materialized. I would like to express my great appreciation to Prof. Nobuhito Ohte, Associate Prof. Lina Koyama, Assistant Prof. Christian Vincenot, and Assistant Prof. Hideaki Nishizawa (Graduate School of Informatics, Kyoto University), who improved this study through their constructive comments and discussion.

I also express my sincerest appreciation to Professor Nobuaki Arai (Field Science Education and Research Center, Kyoto University). If I had not met him, I would not have decided to enter the division of Biosphere Informatics, and I would never have crossed paths with all the wonderful people I have met throughout the course of my studies.

I would like to express the deepest appreciation to Associate Prof. Jun Shoij (Center for Field Science of the Seto Inland Sea, Hiroshima University) for providing me with the field site of Ikuno Island. I am also grateful to Sadaharu Iwasaki, captain of the *Karanusu-maru*, for long-term and kindly support of the experiment at Ikuno Island. I would like to sincerely thank Dr. Yusuke Kondo, Mr. Masaki Hata, Mr. Hiroki Tanaka, Mr. Tatsuya Utsunomiya, Mr. Yuji Terada, Mr. Kouji Fuijta, Mr. Kenn Iida, Mr. Taiki Fuji, and Mr. Kentaro Node (Field Science Education and Research Center, Kyoto University) for their help at the Takehara Marine Science Station, Hiroshima University. I also wish to express my thanks to Mr. Keisuke Doi, Mr. Yuki Aoki, Mr. Koki Shimono (Graduate School of Agriculture, Kinki University), Mr. Yoshiaki Yasue, Mr. Shotaro Seko, Ms. Ayako Yokoyama (Field Science Education and Research Center, Kyoto University), Mr. Yuto Suzuki (Faculty of Agriculture, Kyoto University), and Mr. Yuya Kato (Graduate School of Informatics, Kyoto University) for specimen sampling and fieldwork assistance.

I would like to gratefully acknowledge Dr. Ko Fujioka and Dr. Hiromu Fukuda (National Research Institute of Far Seas Fisheries, Fisheries Research and Education Agency) for providing me with the field site of Kaminokae. I am particularly grateful for the assistance given by the great fishermen Mr. Deki and Mr. Oki for their support of the experiment at Kaminokae. I also thank Fukuya Hotel for supporting the fieldwork.

I thank my colleagues for their support during fieldwork and helpful discussions. I would especially like to thank Mr. Jun Horie, Mr. Tomoya Hori, Ms. Akane Abe, Mr. Wataru Saito, Mr. Kotaro Tanaka, Ms. Yuko Maruo, and Mr. Ryoma Takeno for helping during camp life and with their tremendous skills at fish sampling by angling in Ikuno Island. Discussion with Dr. Satoko Kimura (Center for Innovative Research and Education in Data Science, Institute for Liberal Arts and Sciences, Kyoto University), Dr. Takuij Noda (The Institute of Statistical Mathematics), and Ms. Runa Tabata (Fisheries Agency) improved my work. My sincere appreciation goes to Ms. Fusako Kamiguchi for her practical management and support of my research operation.

This research was supported by a Grant-in-Aid for JSPS (the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science) Fellowship to JT (17J10603), a Grant-in-Aid for Young Scientist (A) to HM (25712022), JST CREST Grant Number JPMJCR13A5, and a Cooperative research organization for the Promotion Program of International fisheries stock assessment from the Fisheries Agency of Japan. The Governor of Hiroshima Prefecture or The Director-General of the Hiroshima Prefectural Agriculture, Forestry, and Fisheries Station issued permissions for fish collection around Ikuno Island.

Finally, I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to my father, mother, and sister for their financial support and warm encouragement throughout my study and my life.

References

- Andrews, K. S., Tolimieri, N., Williams, G. D., Samhouri, J. F., Harvey, C. J., and Levin, P. S. (2011) Comparison of fine-scale acoustic monitoring systems using home range size of a demersal fish. *Marine Biology*, 158(10): 2377-2387.
- Baltazar-Soares, M., and Eizaguirre, C. (2017) Animal Navigation: The Eel's Magnetic Guide to the Gulf Stream. *Current Biology*, 27(12): 604– 606.
- Bartumeus, F (2007) Lévy processes in animal movement: an evolutionary hypothesis. *Fractals*, 15: 151–162.
- Bartumeus, F., and Levin, S. A. (2008) Fractal reorientation clocks: Linking animal behavior to statistical patterns of search. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105(49): 19072-19077.
- Berdahl, A., Westley, P. A., Levin, S. A., Couzin, I. D., and Quinn, T. P. (2016). A collective navigation hypothesis for homeward migration in anadromous salmonids. *Fish and Fisheries*, 17(2): 525–542.
- Berdahl, A. M., Kao, A. B., Flack, A., Westley, P. A., Codling, E. A., Couzin,
 I. D., ... and Biro, D. (2018) Collective animal navigation and migratory
 culture: from theoretical models to empirical evidence. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. B*, 373(1746): 20170009.
- Bergman, G., and Donner, K. O. (1964) An analysis of the spring migration of the common scoter and the long-tailed duck in southern Finland. Acta Zoologica Fennica, 105: 1–59.
- Bergé, J., Capra, H., Pella, H., Steig, T., Ovidio, M., Bultel, E., and

Lamouroux, N. (2012) Probability of detection and positioning error of a hydro acoustic telemetry system in a fast-flowing river: intrinsic and environmental determinants. *Fisheries Research*, *125*: 1–13.

- Biro, D., Sumpter, D. J., Meade, J., and Guilford, T. (2006) From compromise to leadership in pigeon homing. *Current Biology*, 16(21): 2123–2128.
- Booth, D. J. (2016) Ability to home in small site-attached coral reef fishes. Journal of fish biology, 89(2): 1501–1506.
- Bowles, A. E., Denes, S. L., and Shane, M. A. (2010) Acoustic characteristics of ultrasonic coded transmitters for fishery applications: could marine mammals hear them?. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 128(5): 3223–3231.
- Brothers, J. R., and Lohmann, K. J. (2015) Evidence for geomagnetic imprinting and magnetic navigation in the natal homing of sea turtles. *Current Biology*, 25(3): 392–396.
- Bui, S., Oppedal, F., Korsøen, Ø. J., Sonny, D., and Dempster, T. (2013)
 Group behavioural responses of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) to light, infrasound and sound stimuli. *PloS one*, 8(5): e63696.
- Carlson, H. R., Haight, R. E., and Helle, J. H. (1995) Initial behavior of displaced yellowtail rockfish Sebastes flavidus in Lynn Canal, Southeast Alaska. Alaska Fisheries Research Bulletin 2(1): 76–80.
- Chateau, O., and Wantiez, L. (2007) Site fidelity and activity patterns of a humphead wrasse, *Cheilinus undulatus* (Labridae), as determined by acoustic telemetry. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, *80*(4): 503–508.
- Codling, E. A., Pitchford, J. W., and Simpson, S. D. (2007) Group Navigation and The "Many-Wrongs Principle" in Models of Animal Movement. *Ecology*, 88(7): 1864–1870.
- Cooke, S. J., Niezgoda, G. H., Hanson, K. C., Suski, C. D., Phelan, F. J., Tinline, R., and Philipp, D. P. (2005) Use of CDMA acoustic telemetry to document 3-D positions of fish: relevance to the design and monitoring of aquatic protected areas. *Marine Technology Society Journal*, 39: 31–41.
- Cooke, S. J., Hinch, S. G., Wikelski, M., Andrews, R. D., Kuchel, L. J.,
 Wolcott, T. G., and Butler, P. J. (2004) Biotelemetry: a mechanistic approach to ecology. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 19(6): 334–343.
- Cote, D., Scruton, D. A., Niezgoda, G. H., and McKinley, R. S. (1998) A coded acoustic telemetry system for high precision monitoring of fish location and movement: application to the study of nearshore nursery habitat of juvenile Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*). *Marine Technology Society Journal*, 32(1): 54–62.
- Delgado, M. D. M., Penteriani, V., Morales, J. M., Gurarie, E., and Ovaskainen, O. (2014) A statistical framework for inferring the influence of conspecifics on movement behaviour. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 5(2): 183–189.
- Dell'Ariccia, G., Dell'Omo, G., Wolfer, D. P., and Lipp, H. P. (2008) Flock flying improves pigeons' homing: GPS track analysis of individual flyers versus small groups. *Animal Behaviour*, *76*(4): 1165–1172.
- Ehrenberg, J. E., and Steig, T. W. (2003) Improved techniques for studying the temporal and spatial behavior of fish in a fixed location. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 60(3): 700–706.

- Eschmeyer, W. N., and Hureau, J. C. (1971) Sebastes mouchezi, a Senior Synonym of Helicolenus tristanensis, with Comments on Sebastes capensis and Zoogeographical Considerations. Copeia, 1971(3): 576–579.
- Espinoza, M., Farrugia, T. J., Webber, D. M., Smith, F., and Lowe, C. G. (2011) Testing a new acoustic telemetry technique to quantify long-term, fine-scale movements of aquatic animals. *Fisheries Research*, 108(2): 364–371.
- Faucher, K., Parmentier, E., Becco, C., Vandewalle, N., and Vandewalle, P. (2010) Fish lateral system is required for accurate control of shoaling behaviour. *Animal Behaviour*, 79(3): 679–687.
- Gjelland, K. Ø., and Hedger, R. D. (2013) Environmental influence on transmitter detection probability in biotelemetry: developing a general model of acoustic transmission. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution, 4*: 665–674.
- Gold, R. (1967) Optimal binary sequences for spread spectrum multiplexing. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, *13*(4): 619–621.
- Green, K. M., and Starr, R. M. (2011) Movements of small adult black rockfish: implications for the design of MPAs. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 436: 219–230.
- Guttridge, T. L., Gruber, S. H., Krause, J., and Sims, D. W. (2010) Novel acoustic technology for studying free-ranging shark social behaviour by recording individuals' interactions. *PLoS One*, *5*(2), e9324.
- Harada, E (1962) A contribution to the biology of the black rockfish Sebastes inermis. Publication of the Seto Marine Biological Laboratory, 5: 307-361.

- Hasegawa, K., Miyamoto, Y., Uchida, K. (2016) Development of a real-time depth monitoring system for small fishing gear using an acoustic telemetry technique. *Fisheries Science*, 82: 213-223.
- Hays, G. C., Ferreira, L. C., Sequeira, A. M., Meekan, M. G., Duarte, C. M., Bailey, H., ... and Eguíluz, V. M. (2016) Key questions in marine megafauna movement ecology. *Trends in ecology & evolution*, 31: 463– 475.
- Hemelrijk, C. K., Reid, D. A. P., Hildenbrandt, H., and Padding, J. T. (2015)
 The increased efficiency of fish swimming in a school. *Fish and Fisheries*, 16(3): 511-521.
- Holland, K. N., Meyer, C. G. and Dagorn, L. C. (2009) Inter-animal telemetry: results from first deployment of acoustic 'business card' tags. *Endangered Species Research*, 10: 287–293.
- Hornik, K., Leisch, F., and Zeileis, A. (2003) JAGS: A program for analysis of Bayesian graphical models using Gibbs sampling. *Proceedings of DSC*, *2*: 1.
- Hughey, L. F., Hein, A. M., Strandburg-Peshkin, A., and Jensen, F. H. (2018). Challenges and solutions for studying collective animal behaviour in the wild. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. B*, 373(1746): 20170005.
- Hussey, N. E., Kessel, S. T., Aarestrup, K., Cooke, S. J., Cowley, P. D., Fisk,
 A. T., Harcourt, R. G., Holland, K. N., Iverson, S. J., Kocik, J. F.,
 Flemming, J. E. M. and Whoriskey F. G. (2015) Aquatic animal telemetry: a panoramic window into the underwater world. *Science*, 348(6240): 1255642.

- Jorgensen, S. J., Kaplan, D. M., Klimley, A. P., Morgan, S. G., O'Farrell, M. R., & Botsford, L. W. (2006) Limited movement in blue rockfish Sebastes mystinus: internal structure of home range. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 327: 157-170.
- Inoue, Y. (1987) Size and moving behaviour of fish schools around the set-net. *Nippon Suisan Gakkaishi, 53*(8): 1307–1312. (In Japanese with English abstract)
- Kai, Y., and Nakabo, T. (2002) Morphological differences among three color morphotypes of Sebastes inermis (Scorpaenidae). Ichthyological Research, 49(3): 260-266.
- Kai, Y., Nakayama, K., and Nakabo, T. (2002) Genetic differences among three colour morphotypes of the black rockfish, *Sebastes inermis*, inferred from mtDNA and AFLP analyses. *Molecular Ecology*, 11(12): 2591–2598.
- Kai, Y., and Nakabo, T. (2008) Taxonomic review of the Sebastes inermis species complex (Scorpaeniformes: Scorpaenidae). Ichthyological Research, 55(3): 238–259.
- Kaunda-Arara, B., and Rose, G. A. (2004) Homing and site fidelity in the greasy grouper *Epinephelus tauvina* (Serranidae) within a marine protected area in coastal Kenya. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 277-245-251.
- Kendall, A. W. (1991) Systematics and identification of larvae and juveniles of the genus *Sebastes*. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, *30*: 173–190.

Kendall A. W. (2000). An historical review of Sebastes taxonomy and

systematics. Marine Fisheries Review, 62(2): 1–23.

- Kessel, S. T., Cooke, S. J., Heupel, M. R., Hussey, N. E., Simpfendorfer, C. A., Vagle, S., ... and Fisk, A. T. (2014) A review of detection range testing in aquatic passive acoustic telemetry studies. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, 24(1): 199–218.
- Kitahashi, T., Ando, H., Urano, A., Ban, M., Saito, S., Tanaka, H., ... and Ueda, H. (2000) Micro data logger analyses of homing behavior of chum salmon in Ishikari bay. *Zoological Science*, 17(9): 1247–1253.
- Klimley, A. P., Le Boeuf, B. J., Cantara, K. M., Richert, J. E., Davis, S. F., and Van Sommeran, S. (2001) Radio-acoustic positioning as a tool for studying site-specific behavior of the white shark and other large marine species. *Marine Biology*, 138: 429–446.
- Krause, J., and Ruxton, G. D. (2002) *Living in groups*. Oxford University Press.
- Langley, R. B. (1999) Dilution of precision. GPS World, 10: 52–59.
- Leclercq, E., Zerafa, B., Brooker, A. J., Davie, A., and Migaud, H. (2018) Application of passive-acoustic telemetry to explore the behaviour of ballan wrasse (*Labrus bergylta*) and lumpfish (*Cyclopterus lumpus*) in commercial Scottish salmon sea-pens. *Aquaculture*, 495: 1–12.
- Long, J. A., and Nelson, T. A. (2013) Measuring dynamic interaction in movement data. *Transactions in GIS*, 17(1): 62–77.
- Løkkeborg, S., Fernö, A., and Jørgensen, T. (2002) Effect of position-fixing interval on estimated swimming speed and movement pattern of fish tracked with a stationary positioning system. *Hydrobiologia*, 483: 259–

264.

- Mabuchi, K., Nakabo, T. (1997) Revision of the genus *Pseudolabrus* (Labridae) from the East Asian waters. *Ichthyological Research* 44: 321–334.
- Magurran, A. E. (1990) The adaptive significance of schooling as an anti-predator defence in fish. *Annales Zoologici Fennic, 27*: 51–66.
- Marnane, M. J. (2000) Site fidelity and homing behaviour in coral reef cardinalfishes. *Journal of fish Biology*, 57(6): 1590–1600.
- Marras, S., Killen, S. S., Lindström, J., McKenzie, D. J., Steffensen, J. F., and Domenici, P. (2015) Fish swimming in schools save energy regardless of their spatial position. *Behavioral ecology and sociobiology*, 69(2): 219– 226.
- Masuda, R., Shoji, J., Nakayama, S., and Tanaka, M. (2003) Development of schooling behavior in Spanish mackerel *Scomberomorus niphonius* during early ontogeny. *Fisheries Science*, 69(4): 772–776.
- Matsumoto, K., Mabuchi, K., Kohda, M., Nakabo, T. (1997) Spawning behavior and reproductive isolation of two species of *Pseudolabrus. Ichthyological Research, 44*: 379–384.
- Matthews, K. R. (1990a) An experimental study of the habitat preferences and movement patterns of copper, quillback, and brown rockfishes (*Sebastes* spp.). *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 29(3): 161–178.
- Matthews, K. R. (1990b). A telemetric study of the home ranges and homing routes of copper and quillback rockfishes on shallow rocky reefs. *Canadian Journal of Zoology, 68*(11): 2243–2250.

- Meckley, T. D., Gurarie, E., Miller, J. R., and Wagner, C. M. (2017) How fishes find the shore: evidence for orientation to bathymetry from the non-homing sea lamprey. *Canadian journal of fisheries and aquatic* sciences, 74: 2045–2058.
- Mio, S. (1960) Biology of *Sebastes inermis* Cuvier et Valenciennes. *Records* of oceanographic works in Japan, 5:86–97.
- Mitamura, H., Arai, N., Sakamoto, W., Mitsunaga, Y., Maruo, T., Mukai, Y., Nakamura, K., Sasaki, M., and Yoneda, Y. (2002) Evidence of homing of black rockfish *Sebastes inermis* using biotelemetry. *Fisheries Science*, 68(6): 1189–1196.
- Mitamura, H., Arai, N., Sakamoto, W., Mitsunaga, Y., Tanaka, H., Mukai, Y., Nakamura, K., Sasaki, M., and Yoneda, Y. (2005) Role of olfaction and vision in homing behaviour of black rockfish *Sebastes inermis*. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 322 (2): 123–134.
- Mitamura, H., Uchida, K., Miyamoto, Y., Arai, N., Kakihara, T., Yokota, T., ... and Yasuda, T. (2009) Preliminary study on homing, site fidelity, and diel movement of black rockfish *Sebastes inermis* measured by acoustic telemetry. *Fisheries Science*, 75: 1133–1140.
- Mitamura, H., Uchida, K., Miyamoto, Y., Kakihara, T., Miyagi, A., Kawabata, Y., ... and Arai, N. (2012) Short-range homing in a site-specific fish: search and directed movements. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 215(16): 2751–2759.
- Miyamoto, K., Takao, Y., and Sasakura, T., (2010) Development of a small and long-life ultrasonic biotelemetry system strong against sea ambient noise. *Proceedings of 20th International Congress on Acoustics in ICA*

2010: 1–4.

- Miyamoto, Y., Uchida, K., Takao, Y., and Sasakura, T. (2011) Development of a new ultrasonic biotelemetry system using a maximum length sequence signal. *The Journal of the Marine Acoustics Society of Japan*, 38(3): 119–127. (In Japanese with English abstract)
- Nathan, R., Getz, W. M., Revilla, E., Holyoak, M., Kadmon, R., Saltz, D., and Smouse, P. E. (2008) A movement ecology paradigm for unifying organismal movement research. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105(49): 19052–19059.
- Nesterova, A. P., Flack, A., van Loon, E. E., Marescot, Y., Bonadonna, F., and Biro, D. (2014) Resolution of navigational conflict in king penguin chicks. *Animal behaviour*, *93*: 221–228.
- Nishi, G. (1989) Locomotor activity rhythm in two wrasses, *Halichoeres* tenuispinnis and *Pteragogus flagellifera*, under various light conditions. Japanese Journal of Ichthyology, 36: 350–356. (In Japanese with English abstract)
- Nishi, G. (1990) Locomotor activity rhythm in four wrasse species under varying light conditions. *Japanese Journal of Ichthyology*, 37: 170–181. (In Japanese with English abstract)
- Noda, T., Fujioka, K., Fukuda, H., Mitamura, H., Ichikawa, K., and Arai, N. (2016) The influence of body size on the intermittent locomotion of a pelagic schooling fish. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. B*, 283(1832): 20153019.
- O'brien, W. J., Browman, H. I., and Evans, B. I. (1990) Search strategies of foraging animals. *American Scientist*, 78: 152–160.

- Partridge, B. L. (1982) The structure and function of fish schools. *Scientific american*, 246(6): 114–123.
- Partridge, B. L., and Pitcher, T. J. (1980) The sensory basis of fish schools: relative roles of lateral line and vision. *Journal of comparative physiology*, 135(4): 315–325.
- Pitcher, T. J., Magurran, A. E., and Winfield, I. J. (1982) Fish in larger shoals find food faster. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology*, 10(2): 149– 151.
- Pincock, D. G. (2008) Understanding the performance of VEMCO 69 kHz single frequency acoustic telemetry. Technical white paper. Vemco, Halifax, Nova Scotia.
- Plummer, M. (2016) rjags: Bayesian Graphical Models using MCMC. R package version 4-6. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=rjags
- Portugal, S. J., Hubel, T. Y., Fritz, J., Heese, S., Trobe, D., Voelkl, B., ... and Usherwood, J. R. (2014) Upwash exploitation and downwash avoidance by flap phasing in ibis formation flight. *Nature*, 505(7483): 399.
- R Core Team (2017) R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Ransom, B. H., Steig, T. W., Timko, M. A., and Nealson, P. A. (2008) Basin-wide monitoring of salmon smolts at US dams. *The international journal on hydropower & dams, 15*(3): 44.
- Reynolds, B. F., Powers, S. P., and Bishop, M. A. (2010) Application of acoustic telemetry to assess residency and movements of rockfish and

lingcod at created and natural habitats in Prince William Sound. *PLoS One, 5*(8): e12130.

- Ryan, P. G., Petersen, S. L., Peters, G., and Grémillet, D. (2004) GPS tracking a marine predator: the effects of precision, resolution and sampling rate on foraging tracks of African Penguins. *Marine Biology*, 145: 215–223.
- Roy, R., Beguin, J., Argillier, C., Tissot, L., Smith, F., Smedbol, S., ... and De-Oliveira, E. (2014) Testing the VEMCO Positioning System: spatial distribution of the probability of location and the positioning error in a reservoir. *Animal Biotelemetry*, 2(1): 1.
- Schultz, A. A., Kumagai, K. K., and Bridges, B. B. (2015) Methods to evaluate gut evacuation rates and predation using acoustic telemetry in the Tracy Fish Collection Facility primary channel. *Animal Biotelemetry*, 3(1): 1.
- Shinomiya, A., and Ezaki, O. (1991). Mating habits of the rockfish *Sebastes inermis. Environmental Biology of Fishes, 30*: 15–22.
- Simons, A. M. (2004) Many wrongs: the advantage of group navigation. *Trends in ecology & evolution*, 19(9): 453-455.
- Simpfendorfer, C. A., Heupel, M. R., and Collins, A. B. (2008) Variation in the performance of acoustic receivers and its implication for positioning algorithms in a riverine setting. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 65: 482–492.
- Strandburg-Peshkin, A., Twomey, C. R., Bode, N. W., Kao, A. B., Katz, Y., Ioannou, C. C., ... and Couzin, I. D. (2013) Visual sensory networks and effective information transfer in animal groups. *Current Biology*, 23(17):

R709–R711.

- Sumpter, D. J. (2010) *Collective animal behavior*. Princeton University Press.
- Trathan, P. N., Bishop, C., Maclean, G., Brown, P., Fleming, A., and Collins, M. A. (2008) Linear tracks and restricted temperature ranges characterise penguin foraging pathways. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 370: 285–294.
- Ueda, H. (2012). Physiological mechanisms of imprinting and homing migration in Pacific salmon Oncorhynchus spp. Journal of Fish Biology, 81(2): 543-558.
- Ueda, H., Kaeriyama, M., Mukasa, K., Urano, A., Kudo, H., Shoji, T., ... and Kurihara, K. (1998) Lacustrine sockeye salmon return straight to their natal area from open water using both visual and olfactory cues. *Chemical Senses*, 23: 207–212.
- Voegeli, F. A., Lacroix, G. L., and Anderson, J. M. (1998) Development of miniature pingers for tracking Atlantic salmon smolts at sea. *Hydrobiologia* 371: 35–46.
- Wada, T., Shimamura, S., and Nemoto, Y. (2014) Feeding, growth, and dispersal of hatchery-reared spotted halibut Verasper variegatus released in a shallow brackish lagoon: Matsukawa-ura, northeastern Fukushima, Japan. Aquaculture Science, 62: 75–88.
- Weihs, D. (1973) Hydromechanics of fish schooling. *Nature 241*: 290–291.
- Welsh, J. Q., Fox, R. J., Webber, D. M., and Bellwood, D. R. (2012) Performance of remote acoustic receivers within a coral reef habitat:

implications for array design. Coral reefs 31: 693-702.

- Westley, P. A., Berdahl, A. M., Torney, C. J., and Biro, D. (2018). Collective movement in ecology: from emerging technologies to conservation and management. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. B*, 373(1746): 20170004.
- Williams-Grove, L. J., and Szedlmayer, S. T. (2016) Acoustic positioning and movement patterns of red snapper *Lutjanus campechanus* around artificial reefs in the northern Gulf of Mexico. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 553: 233-251.
- Wolfe, B. W., and Lowe, C. G. (2015) Movement patterns, habitat use and site fidelity of the white croaker (*Genyonemus lineatus*) in the Palos Verdes Superfund Site, Los Angeles, California. *Marine environmental* research, 109: 69-80.
- Zar J. H. (2010) Biostatistical analysis, 5th edition. Prentice Hall.

Publications (Referred journals)

- [1]. Takagi, J., Ichikawa, K., Arai, N., Miyamoto, Y., Uchida, K., Fujioka, K., Fukuda, H., Shoji, J., and Mitamura, H. (2016) Simultaneous identification of multiple signals from phase modulation-coded transmitters for acoustic biotelemetry of fish school. *Journal of Advanced Marine Science and Technology Society*, 22(2): 5–9.
- [2]. Takagi, J., Ichikawa, K., Arai, N., Miyamoto, Y., Uchida, K., Fujioka, K., Fukuda, H., and Mitamura, H. (2017). Evaluation of multipath effects on depth measurements provided by acoustic transmitters in shallow water. *PROCEEDINGS of the Design Symposium on Conservation of Ecosystem (The 16th SEASTAR2000 workshop), 5*: 15–19.
- [3]. Takagi, J., Ichikawa, K., Arai, N., Miyamoto, Y., Uchida K., Shoji, J., and Mitamura, H. (2018). Simultaneous observation of intermittent locomotion of multiple fish by fine-scale spatiotemporal three-dimensional positioning. *PLoS ONE*, 13(7): e0201029.
- [4]. Takagi, J., Ichikawa, K., Arai, N., Miyamoto, Y., Uchida K., Shoji, J., and Mitamura, H. (In preparation). Do sympatric conspecific fish use social cues in homing? An approach by fine-scale acoustic positioning